
Annual Report
W

ing
ara A

G
 L

im
ited | A

nnual R
ep

ort 2
0

2
1

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Melbourne
Geelong

Bordertown

South Australia

Griffith

New South Wales

VictoriaRaywood
Epsom

Horsham

Wingara AG locations

Victoria

Australia

Green products

Grower catchment

Red products

Supplier catchment

Who  
We Are

We connect primary producers to 
the global market efficiently through 

our protein supply chain platform.

Wingara AG Limited owns and 
manages critical accredited export 
infrastructure assets within the 
protein supply chain. We specialise  
in the processing, storage and export 
of high quality Australian agricultural 
produce to Asian market. Wingara 
operates through two business units 
being Fodder with JC Tanloden and 
Red Protein Export Services with 
Austco Polar Cold Storage.

Our Vision

Capitalise on our global trading 
network to partner with primary 
producers to market and export 
innovative goods and services to our 
captive Asian market by being flexible 
and adaptive to the ever-evolving 
protein supply chain market.

Our Mission

Partner with our clients on the  
global stage to build a supply chain 
platform where we enable products  
to reach our consumers efficiently  
and securely.
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Financial Year ended 31 March 2021

UNDERLYING

$’000 UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Operating results
Revenue 38,009 35,058 29,120 10,763 8,687
Cost of Sales (20,973) (18,786) (14,290) (5,298) (4,567)
Gross Profit 17,036 16,271 14,830 5,465 4,120
EBITDA 2,534 3,287 4,752 1,089 606
EBITDA* 2,534 7,526 4,752 1,089 606
Depreciation and amortisation (D&A) (2,899) (2,467) (2,116) (602) (336)
Earnings Before Interest and Tax (EBIT) (365) 820 2,636 487 270
Finance expenses (2,576) (2,021) (1,806) (383) (192)
Operating profit before tax (2,941) (1,201) 830 104 79
Tax expense (229) (107) (46) 319 (43)
Net profit before significant items (3,170) (1,308) 784 424 36
Significant items (3,063) 2,095 122 (858) (213)
Other comprehensive income – – – – –
Profit/loss attributable to members (6,233) 787 906 (434) (176)
Financial position
Wingara shareholders’ funds 14,857 16,441 15,139 12,091 6,256
Intangible assets 1,816 1,816 1,816 1,816 1,816
Total assets 54,032 55,318 47,404 23,361 13,628
Total liabilities 39,175 38,877 32,264 11,270 7,402
Net debt^ 5,952 3,919 25,657 584 (635)
Market capitalisation 15,934 26,514 26,802 35,812 22,101
Enterprise value 21,886 30,433 52,459 36,396 21,466
Operating cash flow 317 1,517 184 (4) 133
Closing share price (dollars) 0.120 0.250 0.255 0.370 0.285
Shares on issue (thousands) 132,782 106,055 105,105 96,790 77,547
Key financial metrics
Revenue growth (%) 8.4% 20.4% 170.6% 23.9% (16.2%)
Gross margin (%) 44.8% 46.4% 50.9% 50.8% 47.4%
EBITDA* margin (%) 6.7% 21.5% 16.3% 10.1% 7.0%
EBITDA* growth (%) (66.3%) 58.4% 336.4% 79.7% (50.6%)
EBIT growth (%) (144.5%) (68.9%) 441.2% 80.2% (66.2%)
Key profitability ratios
Return on Equity (%) (42.0%) 4.8% 6.0% (3.6%) (2.8%)
Return on Assets (%) (11.5%) 1.4% 1.9% (1.9%) (1.3%)
Earnings per share (EPS) (cents) (4.69) 0.74 0.86 (0.45) (0.23)
EPS growth (%) (732.4%) (13.9%) 292.2% (97.3%) (134.2%)
Total shareholder returns (%) (70.8%) 1.0% (28.8%) 28.3% 13.1%
Operating cash flow/EBITDA* (times) 0.1x 0.2x 0.0x (0.0x) 0.2x
EBITDA* Return on Assets 4.7% 13.6% 10.0% 4.7% 4.4%
EBITDA* Return on Equity 17.1% 45.8% 31.4% 9.0% 9.7%
Capital market and structure ratios
Market cap/EBIT (times) (43.7x) 32.3x 10.2x 73.5x 81.7x
EBITDA* per share (cents) 1.91 7.10 4.52 1.12 0.78
Market cap/EBITDA* (times) 6.3x 3.5x 5.6x 32.9x 36.5x
Enterprise value/EBITDA* (times) 8.6x 4.0x 11.0x 33.4x 35.4x
P/E ratio (times) (0.0x) 0.3x 0.3x (0.8x) (1.3x)
Net debt^/shareholders’ equity (%) 40% 24% 169% 5% (10%)
Equity/total assets (%) 27% 30% 32% 52% 46%
Net debt^/EBITDA* (times) 2.3x 0.5x 5.4x 0.5x (1.0x)
EBIT/net interest (times) 0.1x (0.4x) (1.5x) (1.3x) (1.4x)
Net tangible asset backing per share (cents) 39.32 50.45 43.37 22.26 15.23

^ Debt metrics exclude capitalised lease obligations.

Five Year  
Summary
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Chairman’s  
Letter

Dear Shareholder,

I am pleased to present to you 
Wingara’s Annual Report for the 
financial year ended 31 March 2021 
(FY21), a year of challenges and 
transformation, which has set the 
business up for future growth.

Financial performance reflects 
challenging conditions

FY21 was a strong year of revenue, 
with 8% growth to $38m. This was 
underpinned by record production  
at JC Tanloden (65.6k MT, up 56%) 
with JCT volumes improved each 
quarter during the year, and closed  
out the year with a very strong Q4, 
where the 75% utilisation target  
was exceed for the first time. 

Earnings however were not at  
targeted levels, with EBITDA of  
$2.5m and an NPAT loss of $3.2m 
(based on underlying results).  
Having experienced a decline in blast 
carton volumes at Austco Polar (Austco), 
this was detrimental to earnings, as 
were higher logistics costs across the 
two businesses, with reduced shipping 
services resulting from COVID-19. 
Prior hay purchasing decisions in  
the JCT business also proved to be  
a setback to FY21 earnings.

There were also a number of one-off 
items during the year, which have been 
excluded from underlying earnings, 
most notably a provision for bad debt 
and the write down of the value of 
inventory. These were predominately an 
outcome of internal challenges, which 
have been addressed going forward.

Significant transformation of operations

The Board and management 
responded to the suboptimal  
financial performance during the  
year with a corporate restructure  
and transformation of the group,  
and this is already showing results.  
We now have an independent  
Board, the executive team has been 
refreshed following the appointment 
of James Whiteside as CEO, and  
$1m of annualised cost savings have 
been locked in for FY22. In addition, 
transparency and communication  
has been enhanced across the group. 

Part of the strong JCT volume 
performance was achieved  
through getting more out of  
existing infrastructure. We have 
implemented a total preventative 
maintenance (TPM) program which 
has reduced asset downtime and 
increased production.

What has become clear to me since 
joining the Board is that Wingara  
has two very different businesses.  
JCT is clearly performing well and  
has a strong growth runway ahead. 
Austco faces difficult industry 
conditions and the synergies  
expected at acquisition have not  
come through, with this business  
now under strategic review.

Board independence

Wingara has a majority independent 
Board, following a number of changes 
during the year. I took on the role  
of Independent Non-Executive 
Chairperson in September 2020.  
We then welcomed Steven Chaur as 
Independent Non-Executive Director 
in November 2020, at which point 
Zane Banson stepped off the Board 
and a majority of Independent non-
executive Directors was achieved.  
In January 2021, the Board accepted 
Gavin Xing’s resignation from the 
Board and as CEO, and we thank him 
for his service over his 5 year tenure 
with the company.

Enhanced governance framework

The independent Board is  
committed to instilling robust 
corporate governance and oversight 
across the business to ensure 
occupational health and safety 
(OH&S), wellbeing and welfare of 
employees, and compliance and  
timely reporting are of the highest 
priority. Key outcomes have included 
the establishment of an employee 
assistance program, periodic 
compliance reporting, a group risk 
matrix having been put in place,  
and enhanced OH&S policy.

Deepening relationships in the 
protein supply chain

Wingara has a strong position in  
the protein supply chain, sourcing 
product directly and indirectly from 
more than 300 Victorian farmers,  
then processing, storing, marketing 
and exporting Australian agricultural 
produce to high demand export 
markets in Asia. Wingara’s position 
was further strengthened during  
the year, with people put on the 
ground in key export markets to  
build and maintain direct customer 
relationships, which has already seen 
an expansion of the customer base.

Well positioned for growth

After a year of transformation, 
Wingara is well positioned for growth. 
JCT is expected to carry strong volume 
run-rates into FY22 at an improved 
level of efficiency. On a business as  
is basis, Austco is being managed to 
break-even, pending an outcome of the 
strategic review. Cost effectiveness  
is expected to improve across the 
group with $1m annualised savings 
already locked in and implementation 
of the Lean Program to further 
improve efficiencies.

Thank you to all our stakeholders

I would like to thank the other 
members of the Board and all staff  
for their hard work and dedication 
throughout FY21. A particular thank-
you to Zane Banson who was prepared 
to take on the Interim-CEO role in 
addition to his CFO responsibilities 
and guide the company through 
significant transformation. Finally, I wish 
to thank you, our shareholders, for 
supporting the company through  
this challenging period, and we look 
forward to delivering sustainable 
returns going forward.

My fellow Director’s and the Executive 
team will continue to work hard to ensure 
that this business grows into what we 
know it has the potential to become.

David Christie 
Non-Executive Chairman

Wingara AG Limited
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REVENUE ($M)

$ 38.0m  
Up 8.4%

EBITDA ($M)

$2.5m

H2 FY21H1 FY21H2 FY20H1 FY20H2 FY19H1 FY19

14.72 14.40 15.02

20.04 19.75
18.25

FY21FY20FY19

4.75

3.29

2.5

TOTAL ASSETS ($M)

$ 54.3m  
Down 2%

NET ASSET ($M)

$ 14.86m  
Down 10%

FY21FY20FY19FY18FY17

55.32 54.03
47.40

23.36

13.63

FY21FY20FY19FY18FY17

16.44
14.8615.14

12.09

6.23

2021  
Business Highlights

• Operations resilient despite COVID-19 challenges

• Wingara Group Summary:

 – Revenue up $3.0m to $38.8m with growth in cash receipts;

 – JC Tanloden production output up 56% to 65.5k MT per annum; 

 – JC Tanloden achieved an all time high in quarterly production volume in Q4, 
exceeding the 75%production target for the first time;

 – Austco Polar volumes resilient in challenging conditions; and

 – Maintained underlying EBITDA profitability at $2.5m (FY20 $3.3m).
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Wingara has faced  
a year of challenges 
and transformation 
which has made it well 
placed for growth.
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REVENUE ($M)

$ 27.6m  
Up 27.3%

EBITDA* ($M)

$ 2.2m 

FY21FY20FY19FY18FY17

21.7

27.6

16.8

10.8
8.7

FY21FY20FY19FY18FY17

3.1

2.2

2.7

1.1

0.6

JC Tanloden

Wingara AG Limited (“Wingara” or 
“the Company”) as the owner and 
operator of value-add, mid-stream 
assets specialising in the processing, 
storage and marketing of agriculture 
produce for export markets through 
JC Tanloden (JCT) and Austco Polar 
Cold Storage (APCS).

The Company has faced a year  
of challenges and transformation  
for the Financial Year ended  
31 March 2021. Withstanding  
the global COVID-19 pandemic  
has provided unprecedented 
obstacles which Wingara has  
come through and undergone a  
year of transformation resulting  
in a change in strategic focus which 
has ensured Wingara is well placed 
for growth moving forward.

Strong revenue results

Key financial statement1 items  
for FY2021 were:
• Revenue of $38.0 million (+8%)

• EBITDA of $2.5 million (–25%)

• NPAT loss of $3.2 million  
(FY2020 $3.5 million loss)

• Reported net cash from operating 
activities $0.3m (–79%)

• Reported net debt of $6.0m

Reconciliation of reported to 
underlying results

Wingara delivered its 5th consecutive 
year of revenue growth in FY2021, with 
8% growth to $38 million. This was 
driven by a record revenue result from 
JCT, which grew production volumes by 
56% and revenue by 27%. The strong 
JCT performance more than offset a 
COVID-19 impacted APCS revenue 
decline of 22%.

Having delivered production  
output of 65,575 MT for the year,  
JCT surpassed stated utilisation 
targets of 70-75%, reaching 82%  
in Q4 FY2021 with production 
volumes of 22,830 MT for the  
quarter. JCT experienced a strong 
demand across all key export  
regions, including China, and volume 
performance strengthened each 
quarter throughout the year with the 
progressive recovery from COVID-19.

Conditions for APCS were more 
challenging with blast volumes  
and revenue down 21%, impacted  
by a combination of macroeconomic 
conditions, contractions in livestock 
markets and lower volume of 
slaughter rates over the past 18 
months. Volumes did improve in  
H2 FY2021 over H1, though this  
is not expected to be a precursor  
to recovery in FY2022.

Review of  
Operations

* EBITDA of standalone operating business

Services Provided

Hay Accumulation
• Supply sourced from more than 

300 farmers over 100,000km2 
throughout Victoria

• Purchasing throughout the year to 
maintain consistent inventory levels

• Current storage capacity  
of 30,000 MT

• Storage capability of up to 3 years 
with potential for additional storage

Processing
• Stringent Quality control testing 

on all hay deliveries

• Blend and cut bales to reduce  
size by 50%

• Repacking and fumigation

• Current processing capacity of 
110,000 MT per annum across  
two sites

Logistics
• Domestic and interstate markets

• Offshore Freight to key  
markets including China,  
Taiwan, South Korea and Japan

1 Underlying unless stated otherwise. Refer to reconciliation of reported to underlying results.
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REVENUE ($M)

$ 10.4m  
Down 22%

EBITDA* ($M)

$1.3m

FY21FY20FY19

13.3

10.4

12.4

FY21FY20FY19

1.9

1.3

3.4

Austco Polar

EBITDA, whilst remaining positive  
for FY2021, showed a YOY decline. 
Group operational costs were 
impacted by high shipping surcharges 
resulting from COVID-19. In addition, 
while JCT’s NPAT improved to 
$1.5 million (FY2020: $1.0 million),  
the result was impacted by previous 
hay purchasing decisions and JCT 
reported results reflect a provision  
for bad debts. The effect of lower 
revenues and higher operational  
costs for APCS flowed through to the 
suboptimal group NPAT outcome.

Gearing has been maintained at 
conservative levels, with management’s 
focus on operational efficiency 
preserving cash and following the circa 
$5 million placement in August 2020. 
Net debt was $6.0 million, excluding 
leases, as at 31 March 2021.

Strategic and operational initiatives

Wingara has implemented a number of 
operational, strategic and governance 
initiatives which are already showing 
results. A complete business asset and 
corporate strategy review has been 

undertaken, and the management 
team transition has been completed, 
following the appointment of James 
Whiteside as CEO effective 1 July 2021. 
In addition, $1.0 million of annualised 
cost savings were implemented in Q4 
FY2021, with full year affect in FY2022.

The company’s internal governance 
framework has been enhanced  
to increase transparency in hay 
procurement, improve customer 
relationships and for the earlier 
identification of customer churn  
and debt recoverability risks.

At a segment level, JCT’s inventory 
balance has been right-sized to 
achieve shorter turnover cycles and 
sustain higher volumes of production. 
The business is in the process of 
further diversifying its customer base 
and regional exposure, while also 
capitalising on its current position. 
This involves deepening customer 
relationships and understanding of 
customer needs, improved pricing 
arrangements and improved internal 
verification processes.

Whilst political tension between  
China and several countries including 
Australia is ongoing, JCT continues  
to export to other markets including 
Japan, Taiwan and Korea and will 
continue to explore other regions.

With respect to APCS, management 
focus during FY2021 was on cost 
control during non-peak periods.  
The Board and management are 
currently reviewing optimal utilisation 
for the asset, in line with the strategic 
direction of the group.

Events since the end of the  
financial year

As mentioned previously, Wingara  
has appointed James Whiteside as 
CEO effective 1 July 2021 which has 
completed the Wingara executive 
management team. Through James’ 
28 years agricultural sector experience, 
Wingara looks forward to James’ 
leadership and driving the company’s 
growth strategy to ensure value for 
the shareholder.

* EBITDA of standalone operating business

Services Provided

Storage & Handling
• Receive containers and store 

frozen products (red meat, 
seafood, poultry – no pork)

• Complete exporters documentation 
and product selection

• Load domestic and export 
containers with product

• Storage capability of up to 3 years 
with potential for additional storage

Blast Freezing
• Blast freeze product; extending 

shelf life 12 weeks to up to 3 years 
in chilled conditions

• Meat reaches a temperature  
of –12°C

• Process capacity of 40k packs  
per week

• Key clients account for over  
30% of VIC meat production

Tenancy
• Chillers and freezers occupied  

by various food suppliers  
on long term contracts

• Average tenure of clients  
of 5 years

7www.wingaraag.com.au
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JC Tanloden – 275kWp (Commissioned July 2018)

• The system has 
produced 364 
megawatt hours 
(MWh) of electricity 
with a savings value in 
excess of $62,000

• 70% of total site 
electricity has  
been supplied  
by the system

• Lifetime Co²  
emission savings  
are in excess of 347 
tonnes of Carbon –  
the equivalent of 
planting 10,367 trees

JC Tanloden

Sustainability  
and Environment

We believe that an authentic 
approach to sustainability drives 
profitability for our organisation  
and shareholders and builds a better 
business for our stakeholders to 
associate with, invest in and work in.

One of the key strategic priorities  
of Wingara Ag is developing and 
delivering an authentic and industry 
leading sustainability program  
which acknowledges and builds  
on the initiatives which Wingara 
participates in within the catchment 
area in South-Eastern Australia.

Wingara has continued to uphold  
our social responsibility of ensuring  
we support, develop and grow with  
our farmers.

Wingara has a rich history of  
building sustainable and profitable 
relationships with our growers. 
Established in 1985 JC Tanloden, a 
subsidiary of Wingara, has cemented 
its place in the rural community 
through our pro-active approach to 
the farm gate. Our understanding  
of sustainable production cycles  
of agricultural commodities is 
unparalleled, and our continued 
investment in key resources to  
ensure growers are well represented 
in the market bears testament to  
this mandate.

Wingara prides itself on working  
with both established growers, as  
well as those new to the industry to 
educate and develop production and 
marketing practices that continue to 
evolve the industry and our grower 
partners operations.

The company’s Raywood site is an 
excellent example of a facility that  
has been designed from greenfield 
with our growers in mind, and this 
world class facility demonstrates what 
can be achieved with a consultative 
and farm gate orientated approach  
to supply chain development.

Wingara acknowledges that both  
the Epsom and Raywood sites are 
situated on Dja Dja Wurrung Country.

8 Wingara AG Limited Annual Report 2021
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Austco Polar Cold Storage – 450kWp (Commissioned March 2019)

• The System has 
produced 562 
megawatt hours 
(MWh) of electricity 
with a savings value  
of $103,500 for the 
financial year

• 20% of total site 
electricity has  
been supplied by  
the system

• Lifetime Co² emission 
savings are in excess 
of 356 tonnes – the 
equivalent of planting 
10,630 trees

Austco Polar

Over the life of the business Wingara 
has, and continues, to support many 
community events, not for profits, and 
community initiatives that give back  
to the industry. This is done through 
donations, events, educational and 
industry development initiatives and 
perhaps most importantly, we employ 
our people from the very communities 
we represent, and will continue to 
grow with our communities through 
our people.

Through assisting generations of 
Australian farmers over the course  
of more than 35 years in business,  
JC Tanloden and Wingara recognises 
that our long-term sustainability 
depends on maintaining strong 
relationships with the communities  
in which we operate.

Corporate Governance

Our Wingara values are integral  
to the way we do business and set  
the behavioural expectations of all 
employees and Directors. We believe 
that positive behaviour drives Wingara 
culture, which in turn contributes to 
our sustainable success and growth.

Our corporate governance  
framework seeks to inform and  
guide adherence to our values and our 
Board maintains regular engagement 
with senior management, to ensure 
that our values are aligned with what 
we do in practice.

Information regarding how our 
organisation is governed, including  
the structure and operation of our 
Board and governing committees is 
available in our corporate governance 
statement available on our website.

9www.wingaraag.com.au
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Mr David Christie

Non-Executive Chairman 
(appointed 9 June 2020)

Mr David Christie is a Co-Founder  
and COO of Wilson A.I. – a specialist 
Artificial Intelligence (AI) company 
developing and applying AI solutions 
for multiple industries. He is also  
a Co-founder of Amplifir Pty Ltd a 
Digital Marketing Agency. 

David is also a Non-Executive  
Director, Chair of the Remuneration  
& Nominations Committee and  
a member of the Audit & Risk 
Committee, of Kleos Space S.A. 
(ASX:KSS), a satellite company  
based out of Luxembourg and  
is a Non-Executive Director at 
Litigation Lending Services.  
He is also Chair of the Remuneration 
Committee for Litigation Lending 
Services Limited. 

Over the past 20 years David has 
served as a senior executive in 
London, Russia and New York at 
Renaissance Capital Bank, Deutsche 
Bank and Simmons & Simmons 
Lawyers; and in Australia at  
Minter Ellison Lawyers and iSelect Ltd. 
(ASX:ISU), where he held the roles  
of Chief Strategy Officer, General 
Counsel and Company Secretary  
with responsibility over Legal  
affairs, Compliance, Governance, 
Human Resources, IT, Investor 
Relations, Public Relations and 
Litigation/Disputes.

Mr Steven Chaur

Non-Executive Director 
(appointed 18 November 2020)

Mr Steven Chaur brings over  
30 years’ experience in consumer, 
agricultural and industrial products 
markets with a solid understanding  
of agriculture having led businesses 
engaged in the production of dairy, 
fresh produce, beef, stock feeds  
and consumer foods.

Mr Chaur has held Managing Director 
roles with Patties Foods Ltd (ASX:PFL), 
Nutrano Produce Group Ltd and was 
Pacific Region Managing Director for 
Saint-Gobain (EPA:SGO), one of the 
world’s largest building products 
companies. He has held previous senior 
leadership roles with George Weston 
Foods, Findus Australia Pty Ltd, National 
Foods Limited, Simplot Australia  
and Unilever.

Mr Chaur is a past director of Meat & 
Livestock Australia, where he was also 
Chair of the MLA Donor Company, 
past Chair of the Remuneration 
Committee, director of the Integrity 
Systems Company and a member of 
the Audit & Risk Committee. Mr Chaur 
is also a past non-executive director 
for several not for profit youth 
charitable organisations and brings 
over 20 years’ experience working in 
international market development 
across Asia, China, USA and Europe.

Mr Chaur is currently Group Chief 
Executive Officer of Castlegate James 
Australasia, the leader in food chain 
sustainability. The company innovatively 
converts consumer food manufacturing 
by-products into value added livestock 
feeds, bio energy and other products.

Jeral D’Souza 

Non-Executive Director  

Mr. D’Souza has over 40 years’ 
experience having spent 30 years  
in senior regional management  
roles with Cargill, a leading global 
producer and distributor of food and 
agricultural products with operations 
in over 70 countries/regions. 

Mr D’Souza has also been a Director  
of Teys Australia (Cargill’s and Teys 
family JV), and Chairman of Allied Mills 
(Cargill and GrainCorp’s Australian JV). 
The two businesses were diverse and 
included meat export, flour milling, 
bakery products, and agriculture 
product marketing in Asia, Europe, 
USA and Australia.

Mr D’Souza holds a Bachelor Degree 
with Honours in Accounting and 
Business Finance from the University 
of Manchester in England and is a 
Chartered Accountant with the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants  
in England and Wales. Mr D’Souza 
joined Cargill in 1983 after six years  
in the accounting profession with  
one of the UK big firms.

Board of  
Directors

10 Wingara AG Limited Annual Report 2021

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



11www.wingaraag.com.au

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



12 Wingara AG Limited Annual Report 2021

Directors’ Report

The directors present their report, together with the financial statements, on the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter 
as the ‘consolidated entity’) consisting of Wingara AG Limited (referred to hereafter as the ‘Company’ or ‘parent entity’) 
and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 31 March 2021.

Directors

The following persons were directors of Wingara AG Limited during the whole of the financial year and up to the date  
of this report, unless otherwise stated:

Mr David Christie – Non‑Executive Director (appointed 9 June 2020), subsequently appointed Non‑Executive Chairman 
on 14 September 2020

Mr Jeral D’Souza – Non‑Executive Director

Mr Steven Chaur – Non‑Executive Director (appointed 18 November 2020)

Mr Zane Banson – Executive Director (resigned 18 November 2020)

Mr Gavin Xing – Executive Chairman and Managing Director, subsequently appointed Managing Director and CEO  
on 14 September 2020 (resigned from the Company on 8 January 2021)

Mr Mark Hardgrave – Non‑Executive Director (resigned 9 June 2020)

Principal activities

During the year, the principal continuing activities of the consolidated entity consist of acting as product processor  
and marketer of agricultural products, and also acting as service provider, providing temperature controlled facilities,  
blast freezing, storage and distribution.

Dividends

There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial year.

Review of operations

The loss for the consolidated entity after providing for income tax amounted to $6,232,809 (31 March 2020: profit  
of $787,012).

Wingara AG Limited (“Wingara” or “the Company”) owns and operates value‑add, mid‑stream assets specialising in the 
processing, storage and marketing of agriculture produce for export markets through two businesses: JC Tanloden (JCT), 
and Austco Polar Cold Storage (APCS).

In light of global economic challenges through FY2021 resulting from COVID‑19, Wingara focused on operational 
efficiency, strategic initiatives and corporate governance structures during the year to position the business for 
sustainable growth, balanced with delivering a resilient operational performance for FY2021.

Highlights for FY2021 include:

Strong revenue results

Wingara delivered its 5th consecutive year of revenue growth in FY2021, with 8% growth to $38 million. This was  
driven by a record revenue result from JCT, which grew production volumes by 56% and revenue by 27%. The strong  
JCT performance more than offset a COVID‑19 impacted APCS revenue decline of 22%.

Having delivered production output of 65,575 MT for the year, JCT surpassed stated utilisation targets of 70‑75%, 
reaching 82% in Q4 FY2021 with production volumes of 22,830 MT for the quarter. JCT experienced a strong demand 
across all key export regions, including China, and volume performance strengthened each quarter throughout the year 
with the progressive recovery from COVID‑19.

Conditions for APCS were more challenging with blast volumes and revenue down 21%, impacted by a combination of 
macroeconomic conditions, contractions in livestock markets and lower volume of slaughter rates over the past 18 months. 
Volumes did improve in H2 FY2021 over H1, though this is not expected to be a precursor to recovery in FY2022.

EBITDA, whilst remaining positive for FY2021, showed a YOY decline. Group operational costs were impacted by high 
shipping surcharges resulting from COVID‑19. In addition, JCT’s result was impacted by previous hay purchasing decisions, 
depreciation of the USD and bad debts. The effect of lower revenues and higher operational costs for APCS, flowed 
through to the suboptimal group NPAT outcome.
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Gearing has been maintained at conservative levels, with management’s focus on operational efficiency preserving  
cash and the circa $5 million placement in August 2020. Net debt was $6.0 million, excluding leases, as at 31 March 2021.

Strategic and operational initiatives

Wingara has implemented a number of operational, strategic and governance initiatives which are already showing 
results. A complete business asset and corporate strategy review has been undertaken, and the management team 
transition has been completed, following the appointment of James Whiteside as CEO effective 1 July 2021. In addition, 
$1.0 million of annualised cost savings were implemented in Q4 FY2021, with full year affect in FY2022.

The company’s internal governance framework has been enhanced to increase transparency in hay procurement,  
improve customer relationships and for the earlier identification of customer churn and debt recoverability risks.

At a segment level, JCT’s inventory balance has been right‑sized to achieve shorter turnover cycles in a higher production 
volume environment. The business is in the process of further diversifying its customer base and regional exposure, while 
also capitalising on its current position. This involves deepening customer relationships and understanding of customer 
needs, improved pricing arrangements and improved internal verification processes.

Whilst political tension between China and several countries including Australia is ongoing, we continue to proactively 
strengthen relations with our Chinese customers, whilst also developing other markets to drive growth opportunities  
and to balance our geographic exposure.

With respect to APCS, management focus during FY2021 was on cost control during non‑peak periods. The Board and 
management are currently reviewing optimal utilisation for the asset, in line with the strategic direction of the group.

MAR‑18 SEP‑18 MAR‑19 SEP‑19 MAR‑20 SEP‑20 MAR‑21

H2 FY18  
($M)

H1 FY19  
($M)

H2 FY19  
($M)

H1 FY20  
($M)

H2 FY20  
($M)

H1 FY21  
($M)

H2 FY21  
($M)

Revenue 4.29 14.72 14.40 15.02 20.04 18.35 19.66

EBITDA 0.88 2.76 2.00 1.33 1.96 2.69 (1.54)

Total Assets 23.36 44.01 47.40 51.07 55.32 55.23 54.03

Net Assets 12.09 15.53 15.14 16.53 16.44 20.88 14.86

Significant changes in the state of affairs

On 24 August 2020, the Company issued 26,513,833 fully paid ordinary shares at $0.19 per share through a Placement, 
raising approximately $5 million.

On 19 February 2021, the Company issued 213,105 fully paid ordinary shares at $0.1877 per share as part of the company’s 
employee share scheme.

There were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity during the financial year.

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year

On 21 April 2021 the Company announced that it had appointed James Whiteside as CEO, effective 1 July 2021.

Subsequent to year end, the revolving loan facility with a limit of $5,000,000 was extended from an expiry of July 2021  
to December 2022 moving it from a current facility to a non‑current facility.

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 31 March 2021 that has significantly affected, or may significantly 
affect the consolidated entity’s operations, the results of those operations, or the consolidated entity’s state of affairs  
in future financial years.

Likely developments and expected results of operations

There are no likely developments or details on the expected results of operations that the consolidated entity has  
not disclosed.

Environmental regulation

The consolidated entity is not subject to any significant environmental regulation under Australian Commonwealth  
or State law.
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Information on directors

Mr David Christie  
GAICD, BA, LLB, LLM 
Non‑Executive Chairman (appointed 9 June 2020)

Experience  
and expertise:

Mr David Christie is a Co‑Founder and COO of Wilson A.I. – a specialist Artificial Intelligence (AI) 
company developing and applying AI solutions for multiple industries. He is also a Co‑founder 
of Amplifir Pty Ltd a Digital Marketing Agency.

David is also a Non‑Executive Director, Chair of the Remuneration & Nominations 
Committee and a member of the Audit & Risk Committee, of Kleos Space S.A. (ASX:KSS),  
a satellite company based out of Luxembourg and is a Non‑Executive Director at Litigation 
Lending Services. He is also Chair of the Remuneration Committee for Litigation Lending 
Services Limited.

Over the past 20 years David has served as a senior executive in London, Russia and  
New York at Renaissance Capital Bank, Deutsche Bank and Simmons & Simmons Lawyers; 
and in Australia at Minter Ellison Lawyers and iSelect Ltd. (ASX:ISU), where he held the  
roles of Chief Strategy Officer, General Counsel and Company Secretary with responsibility 
over Legal affairs, Compliance, Governance, Human Resources, IT, Investor Relations,  
Public Relations and Litigation/Disputes.

Other current 
directorships:

Kleos Space S.A. (ASX:KSS), Litigation Lending Services Limited

Former directorships 
(last 3 years):

None

Special responsibilities: None

Interests in shares: 213,105 ordinary shares

Interests in options: None

Mr Jeral D’Souza 
Non‑Executive Director

Experience  
and expertise:

Mr. D’Souza has over 40 years’ experience having spent 30 years in senior regional 
management roles with Cargill, a leading global producer and distributor of food and 
agricultural products with operations in over 70 countries/regions. Mr D’Souza has also  
been a Director of Teys Australia (Cargill’s and Teys family JV), and Chairman of Allied Mills 
(Cargill and GrainCorp’s Australian JV). The two businesses were diverse and included meat 
export, flour milling, bakery products, and agriculture product marketing in Asia, Europe,  
USA and Australia.

Mr D’Souza holds a Bachelor Degree with Honours in Accounting and Business Finance from 
the University of Manchester in England and is a Chartered Accountant with the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Mr D’Souza joined Cargill in 1983 after six 
years in the accounting profession with one of the UK big firms.

Other current 
directorships:

None

Former directorships 
(last 3 years):

None

Special responsibilities None

Interests in shares: None

Interests in options: None
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Mr Steven Chaur  
MBA (Monash), Grad. Dip. Marketing, GAICD, FIML 
Non‑Executive Director (appointed 18 November 2020)

Experience  
and expertise:

Mr Steven Chaur brings over 30 years’ experience in consumer, agricultural and industrial 
products markets with a solid understanding of agriculture having led businesses engaged  
in the production of dairy, fresh produce, beef, stock feeds and consumer foods.

Mr Chaur has held Managing Director roles with Patties Foods Ltd (ASX:PFL), Nutrano 
Produce Group Ltd and was Pacific Region Managing Director for Saint‑Gobain (EPA:SGO), 
one of the world’s largest building products companies. He has held previous senior 
leadership roles with George Weston Foods, Findus Australia Pty Ltd, National Foods 
Limited, Simplot Australia and Unilever.

Mr Chaur is a past director of Meat & Livestock Australia, where he was also Chair of the MLA 
Donor Company, past Chair of the Remuneration Committee, director of the Integrity Systems 
Company and a member of the Audit & Risk Committee. Mr Chaur is also a past non‑executive 
director for several not for profit youth charitable organisations and brings over 20 years’ 
experience working in international market development across Asia, China, USA and Europe.

Mr Chaur is currently Group Chief Executive Officer of Castlegate James Australasia, the 
leader in food chain sustainability. The company innovatively converts consumer food 
manufacturing by‑products into value added livestock feeds, bio energy and other products.

Other current 
directorships:

None

Former directorships 
(last 3 years):

None

Special responsibilities: None

Interests in shares: None

Interests in options: None

Mr Zane Banson 
Executive Director (resigned 18 November 2020) 
Currently appointed as Chief Financial Officer and Interim CEO

Experience  
and expertise:

Mr Banson is an experienced Chartered Accountant specialising in Board Advisory, 
Corporate Governance and Financial Reporting for small and micro‑cap listed companies.  
Mr Banson comes with over 10 years of experience in CFO Advisory, Company Secretarial, 
and Financial Reporting from KPMG, Exxon Mobil and boutique advisory firms. He has 
managed and advised a wide range of emerging, growth‑stage listed companies. Mr Banson 
has worked with Wingara AG since 2015 in an advisory capacity before becoming the CFO  
in November 2018. Mr Banson graduated from RMIT University with a bachelor degree of 
Accounting and Finance and is a Chartered Accountant.

Other current 
directorships:

None

Former directorships 
(last 3 years):

None

Special responsibilities: None

Interests in shares: 444,500 ordinary shares

Interests in options: 1,000,000 unlisted options
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‘Other current directorships’ quoted above are current directorships for listed entities only and excludes directorships  
of all other types of entities, unless otherwise stated.

‘Former directorships (last 3 years)’ quoted above are directorships held in the last 3 years for listed entities only and 
excludes directorships of all other types of entities, unless otherwise stated.

Company secretary

Ms Vanessa Chidrawi

Ms Chidrawi was appointed company secretary on 26 March 2021. Ms Chidrawi has 12 years’ private practice experience 
in commercial law and litigation, practicing for her own account in Johannesburg. Over the past 15 years, she has acted as 
General Counsel and Company Secretary for a number of ASX‑ and TSX‑listed companies. She has held senior executive 
positions in the mining industry across Australia and S‑E Asia. Ms Chidrawi holds Bachelor of Law and Bachelor of 
Commerce qualifications and brings with her a wealth of experience in corporate governance, management, mergers  
and acquisitions, board advisory and capital raising in the listed company space.

Mr Oliver Carton

Mr Carton is a qualified lawyer with over 30 years of experience in a variety of corporate roles. He currently runs his own 
consulting business and was previously a Director of the Chartered Accounting firm KPMG. Prior to that, he was a senior 
legal officer with ASIC. Mr Carton is also an experienced company secretary and is currently company secretary for a 
number of listed, unlisted and not for profit companies, including the Melbourne Symphony Orchestra.

Mr Carton resigned as company secretary on 26 March 2021.

Meetings of directors

The number of meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors (‘the Board’) held during the year ended 31 March 2021,  
and the number of meetings attended by each director were:

FULL BOARD AUDIT COMMITTEE

Attended Held Attended Held

David Christie 6 6 1 1

Jeral D’Souza 6 7 2 2

Steven Chaur 4 4 1 1

Zane Banson 2 2 1 1

Gavin Xing 5 5 1 1

Mark Hardgrave 1 1 – –

Held: represents the number of meetings held during the time the director held office.
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Remuneration report (audited)

The remuneration report details the key management personnel remuneration arrangements for the consolidated entity, 
in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and its Regulations.

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling 
the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including all directors.

The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings:

• Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration

• Details of remuneration

• Service agreements

• Share‑based compensation

• Additional information

• Additional disclosures relating to key management personnel

Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration

The objective of the consolidated entity’s executive reward framework is to ensure reward for performance is competitive 
and appropriate for the results delivered. The framework aligns executive reward with the achievement of strategic 
objectives and the creation of value for shareholders, and it is considered to conform to the market best practice for the 
delivery of reward. The Board of Directors (‘the Board’) ensures that executive reward satisfies the following key criteria 
for good reward governance practices:

• competitiveness and reasonableness

• acceptability to shareholders

• performance linkage/alignment of executive compensation

• transparency

The reward framework is designed to align executive reward to shareholders’ interests. The Board have considered that  
it should seek to enhance shareholders’ interests by:

• having economic profit as a core component of plan design

• focusing on sustained growth in shareholder wealth, consisting of dividends and growth in share price, and delivering 
constant or increasing return on assets as well as focusing the executive on key non‑financial drivers of value

• attracting and retaining high calibre executives

Additionally, the reward framework should seek to enhance executives’ interests by:

• rewarding capability and experience

• reflecting competitive reward for contribution to growth in shareholder wealth

• providing a clear structure for earning rewards

In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of non‑executive director and executive director 
remuneration is separate.

Non‑Executive directors remuneration

Fees and payments to non‑executive directors reflect the demands and responsibilities of their role. Non‑executive 
directors’ fees and payments are reviewed annually by the Board. The Board may, from time to time, receive advice from 
independent remuneration consultants to ensure non‑executive directors’ fees and payments are appropriate and in line 
with the market. Any share based payments to Non‑executive directors are based on the discretion of the Company.

ASX listing rules require the aggregate non‑executive directors’ remuneration be determined periodically by a general 
meeting. The most recent determination was when the Company listed in December 2015, where the shareholders 
approved a maximum annual aggregate remuneration of $300,000.
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Executive remuneration

The consolidated entity aims to reward executives based on their position and responsibility, with a level and mix of 
remuneration which has both fixed and variable components.

The executive remuneration and reward framework has four components:

• base pay and non‑monetary benefits

• share‑based payments

• other remuneration such as superannuation and long service leave

The combination of these comprises the executive’s total remuneration.

Fixed remuneration, consisting of base salary, superannuation and non‑monetary benefits, are reviewed annually  
by the Board based on individual and business unit performance, the overall performance of the consolidated entity  
and comparable market remunerations.

Executives may receive their fixed remuneration in the form of cash or other fringe benefits (for example motor  
vehicle benefits) where it does not create any additional costs to the consolidated entity and provides additional  
value to the executive.

Consolidated entity performance and link to remuneration

The remuneration of Non‑Executive Directors consists of an un‑risked element (base pay) which is not linked to the 
performance of the Company in the current or previous reporting periods and share‑based payments, which are awarded 
at the discretion of the Company. Executives are remunerated through a mix of un‑risked remuneration (base pay) and a 
risked element through company options issued under the company’s employee share and option plan (ESOP) which is 
linked to the performance of the Company.

Refer to the section ‘Additional information’ below for details of the earnings and total shareholders return for the last  
five years.

Voting and comments made at the Company’s 19 August 2020 Annual General Meeting (‘AGM’)

At the Company’s 2020 AGM, at least 25% of the shareholders voted against the adoption of the Remuneration Report, 
resulting in a “first‑strike” under sections 250u – w of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth.). The directors have therefore 
considered shareholders concerns regarding remuneration and the management of the Company and taken the following 
steps to address those concerns:

• Resignation of CEO and COO;

• Comprehensive review of positions within the Company and completion of restructure where required; and

• Decrease in payroll overheads

If, when the Remuneration Report for FY2021 is put to shareholders at the 2021 AGM, 25% or more of the vote is recorded 
against the adoption of the report, a “second strike” will be recorded and shareholders will be required to vote, at the same 
meeting, on a “spill motion”, i.e. a motion to decide whether all directors will be required to stand for re‑election within  
90 days of the AGM. Directors and key management personnel and their closely related parties will not be permitted  
to vote on this resolution. If the spill motion is passed, as an ordinary resolution, then a meeting must be called within  
90 days, to allow for voting on the re‑election of the directors.

The directors, however, believe that substantial steps have been taken to address the concerns of shareholders, and 
believe that the Company’s current remuneration structure is appropriate to the circumstances of the business, striking a 
balance between the interests of shareholders in value creation and the need to attract, motivate and retain experienced 
and skilled executives.F

or
 p

er
so

na
l u

se
 o

nl
y



19www.wingaraag.com.au

Details of remuneration

Amounts of remuneration

Details of the remuneration of key management personnel of the consolidated entity are set out in the following tables.

The key management personnel of the consolidated entity consisted of the following directors of Wingara AG Limited:

• Mr David Christie (appointed 9 June 2020)

• Mr Jeral D’Souza

• Mr Steven Chaur (appointed 18 November 2020)

• Mr Zane Banson (resigned as director on 18 November 2020, continued as Chief Financial Officer)

• Mr Gavin Xing (resigned 8 January 2021)

• Mr Mark Hardgrave (resigned 9 June 2020)

And the following member of key management personnel:

• Ms Kellie Barker – Chief Operating Officer (resigned 12 January 2021)

SHORT‑TERM BENEFITS

POST‑
EMPLOYMENT 

BENEFITS

VESTING 
SHARE‑BASED 

PAYMENTS

CASH 
SALARY AND 

FEES

MOVEMENT 
IN LEAVE 

PROVISION
SUPER‑  

ANNUATION
TERMINATION  

BENEFITS *
EQUITY‑  

SETTLED TOTAL

31 March 2021 $ $ $ $ $ $

Non‑Executive Directors:

David Christie 84,849 – 8,061 – 40,000 132,910

Jeral D’Souza 40,692 – 3,866 – – 44,558

Steven Chaur 17,756 – 1,687 – – 19,443

Mark Hardgrave 9,659 – 918 – – 10,577

Executive Directors:

Gavin Xing 265,300 – 22,662 135,000 – 422,962

Other Key  
Management Personnel:

Zane Banson 227,979 (334) 21,658 – – 249,303

Kellie Barker 216,874 – 15,492 11,538 – 243,904

863,109 (334) 74,344 146,538 40,000 1,123,657

* Upon the resignation of Gavin Xing on 8 January 2021, the company paid six months’ salary in lieu of notice of which $67,500  
was paid prior to 31 March 2021 together with outstanding leave entitlements. The balance of the six months salary in lieu of  
notice has been accrued and will be paid within FY2022.

Kellie Barker received a payment in lieu of notice which was paid prior to 31 March 2021 together with outstanding  
leave entitlements.F
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SHORT‑TERM BENEFITS

POST‑
EMPLOYMENT 

BENEFITS

VESTING OF 
SHARE‑BASED 

PAYMENTS

CASH 
SALARY AND 

FEES

MOVEMENT 
IN LEAVE 

PROVISION
SUPER‑ 

ANNUATION
EQUITY‑ 

SETTLED TOTAL

31 March 2020 $ $ $ $ $

Non‑Executive Directors:

Mark Hardgrave 45,662 – 4,338 10,230 60,230

Jeral D’Souza 18,124 – 1,722 – 19,846

Executive Directors:

Gavin Xing 266,530 29,255 25,320 76,725 397,830

Zane Banson 199,038 12,206 18,909 51,150 281,303

Other Key Management Personnel:

Kellie Barker 199,140 30,566 18,918 69,150 317,774

728,494 72,027 69,207 207,255 1,076,983

The proportion of remuneration linked to performance and the fixed proportion are as follows:

FIXED REMUNERATION AT RISK – STI AT RISK – LTI

Name 31 March 2021 31 March 2020 31 March 2021 31 March 2020 31 March 2021 31 March 2020

Non‑Executive Directors:

David Christie 100% – – – – –

Jeral D’Souza 100% 100% – – – –

Steven Chaur 100% – – – – –

Mark Hardgrave 100% 83% – – – 17%

Executive Directors:

Gavin Xing 100% 81% – – – 19%

Other Key  
Management Personnel:

Zane Banson 100% 82% – – – 18%

Kellie Barker 100% 78% – – – 22%
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Service agreements

Remuneration and other terms of employment for key management personnel are formalised in service agreements. 
Details of these agreements are as follows:

Name: David Christie

Title: Non‑Executive Chairman

Agreement commenced: 9 June 2020

Term of agreement: Open until a written notice of resignation is communicated by the Director

Details: $135,000 plus superannuation in Director Fees

Name: Jeral D’Souza

Title: Non‑Executive Director

Agreement commenced: 26 September 2019

Term of agreement: Open until a written notice of resignation is communicated by the Director

Details: $55,000 in Director Fees

Name: Mr Steven Chaur

Title: Non‑Executive Director

Agreement commenced: 18 November 2020

Term of agreement: Open until a written notice of resignation is communicated by the Director

Details: $55,000 in Director Fees
 

Name: Zane Banson

Title: Chief Financial Officer

Agreement commenced: 8 June 2018

Term of agreement: Less than 1 year of service – 1 week of notice

From 1 to 3 years of service – 2 weeks of notice

From 3 to 5 years of service – 3 weeks of notice

More than 5 years of service – 4 weeks notice

Details: $200,000 plus superannuation

Name: Gavin Xing (resigned 8 January 2021)

Title: Executive Chairman, Managing Director, CEO

Agreement commenced: 10 February 2016

Term of agreement: From 1 to 3 years of service – 2 weeks of notice

From 3 to 5 years of service – 3 weeks of notice

More than 5 years of service – 4 weeks of notice

Details: $230,000 plus superannuation as Managing Director

$40,000 in Director fees remuneration is reviewed annually
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Name: Mark Hardgrave (resigned 9 June 2020)

Title: Non‑Executive Director

Agreement commenced: 1 March 2018

Term of agreement: Open until a written notice of resignation is communicated by the Director

Details: $50,000 in Director fees

Name: Kellie Barker (resigned 12 January 2021)

Title: Chief Operating Officer

Agreement commenced: 8 February 2016

Term of agreement: From 1 to 3 years of service – 2 weeks of notice

From 3 to 5 years of service – 3 weeks of notice

More than 5 years of service – 4 weeks of notice

Details: $200,000 plus superannuation

Share‑based compensation

Issue of shares

Details of shares issued to directors and other key management personnel as part of compensation during the year ended 
31 March 2021 are set out below:

NAME DATE SHARES ISSUE PRICE

David Christie 19 February 2021 213,105 $0.188

Options

There were no options over ordinary shares granted to directors and other key management personnel as part of 
compensation during the year ended 31 March 2021.

Additional information

The earnings of the consolidated entity for the five years to 31 March 2021 are summarised below:

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020 31 MARCH 2019 31 MARCH 2018 31 MARCH 2017

$ $ $ $ $

Net profit/(loss) after income tax (6,232,809) 787,012 906,131 (434,062) (176,244)

The factors that are considered to affect total shareholders return (‘TSR’) are summarised below: 

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020 31 MARCH 2019 31 MARCH 2018 31 MARCH 2017

Share price at financial year end ($) 0.12 0.26 0.26 0.37 0.29F
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Additional disclosures relating to key management personnel

Shareholding

The number of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director and other members of  
key management personnel of the consolidated entity, including their personally related parties, is set out below:

BALANCE AT 
THE START OF 

THE YEAR

RECEIVED AS 
PART OF 

REMUNERATION ADDITIONS

DISPOSAL ON 
CESSATION OF 

BEING A 
DIRECTOR OR 

MEMBER OF KEY 
MANAGEMENT 

PERSONNEL

BALANCE AT 
THE END OF THE 

YEAR

Ordinary shares

David Christie – 213,105 – – 213,105

Zane Banson 444,500 – – – 444,500

Gavin Xing 10,427,727 – 465,000 (10,892,727) –

Mark Hardgrave 242,557 – – (242,557) –

Kellie Barker 10,250,000 – – (10,250,000) –

21,364,784 213,105 465,000 (21,385,284) 657,605

Option holding

The number of options over ordinary shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director and other 
members of key management personnel of the consolidated entity, including their personally related parties, is set  
out below:

BALANCE AT 
THE START OF 

THE YEAR GRANTED

EXPIRED/
FORFEITED/

OTHER

DISPOSAL ON 
CESSATION OF 

BEING A 
DIRECTOR OR 

MEMBER OF 
KEY 

MANAGEMENT 
PERSONNEL

BALANCE AT 
THE END OF 

THE YEAR

Options over ordinary shares

Zane Banson 1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000

Gavin Xing 750,000 – – (750,000) –

Mark Hardgrave 100,000 – – (100,000) –

Kellie Barker 1,500,000 – (1,000,000) (500,000) –

3,350,000 – (1,000,000) (1,350,000) 1,000,000

This concludes the remuneration report, which has been audited.F
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Shares under option

Unissued ordinary shares of Wingara AG Limited under option at the date of this report are as follows:

GRANT DATE EXPIRY DATE EXERCISE PRICE
NUMBER  

UNDER OPTION

13 June 2018 12 June 2021 $0.480 500,000

13 August 2018 12 August 2021 $0.480 500,000

23 December 2019 23 December 2022 $0.360 1,250,000

2,250,000

No person entitled to exercise the options had or has any right by virtue of the option to participate in any share issue  
of the Company or of any other body corporate.

Shares issued on the exercise of options

There were no ordinary shares of Wingara AG Limited issued on the exercise of options during the year ended 
31 March 2021 and up to the date of this report.

Indemnity and insurance of officers

The Company has indemnified the directors and executives of the Company for costs incurred, in their capacity as a 
director or executive, for which they may be held personally liable, except where there is a lack of good faith.

During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the directors and executives of 
the Company against a liability to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits 
disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium.

Indemnity and insurance of auditor

The Company has not, during or since the end of the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the auditor  
of the Company or any related entity against a liability incurred by the auditor.

During the financial year, the Company has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the auditor of the 
Company or any related entity.

Proceedings on behalf of the Company

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on 
behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking 
responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part of those proceedings.

Non‑audit services

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non‑audit services provided during the financial year by the 
auditor are outlined in note 26 to the financial statements.

The directors are satisfied that the provision of non‑audit services during the financial year, by the auditor (or by another 
person or firm on the auditor’s behalf), is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by 
the Corporations Act 2001.

The directors are of the opinion that the services as disclosed in note 26 to the financial statements do not compromise 
the external auditor’s independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:

• all non‑audit services have been reviewed and approved to ensure that they do not impact the integrity and objectivity 
of the auditor; and

• none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 Code  
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) issued by the Accounting Professional  
and Ethical Standards Board, including reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a management or 
decision‑making capacity for the Company, acting as advocate for the Company or jointly sharing economic risks  
and rewards.
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Officers of the Company who are former partners of William Buck

There are no officers of the Company who are former partners of William Buck.

Auditor’s independence declaration

A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001  
is set out immediately after this directors’ report.

Auditor

William Buck continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors, pursuant to section 298(2)(a) of the  
Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the directors

Mr David Christie 
Non‑Executive Chairman

28 May 2021
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION UNDER SECTION 307C OF THE 
CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 TO THE DIRECTORS OF WINGARA AG LIMITED 
AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
 
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief during the year ended 31 March 
2021 there have been: 

— no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the 
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

— no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the 
audit. 

 
 
 
 
William Buck Audit (Vic) Pty Ltd 
ABN 59 116 151 136 
 
 

 
 
A. A. Finnis  
Director  
 
Melbourne, 28 May 2021 
 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 March 2021

CONSOLIDATED

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020

Note $ $

Revenue

Fodder sales 27,640,903 21,709,975

Services 10,368,509 13,347,620

Revenue 38,009,412 35,057,595

Cost of sales 5 (21,634,810) (18,786,297)

Gross profit 16,374,602 16,271,298

Other income 6 679,866 184,730

Expenses

Corporate, administration and operating expenses 7 (11,108,091) (10,561,875)

Freight expenses (4,797,525) (2,607,395)

Earnings before finance costs, tax, depreciation and 
transaction expenses 1,148,852 3,286,758

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment 8 (12,613) 4,238,986

Depreciation (2,898,913) (2,467,356)

Impairment of receivables 10 (977,971) –

Project and transaction expenses 8 (686,881) (2,143,724)

Profit before finance costs and tax (3,427,526) 2,914,664

Finance costs (2,576,347) (2,020,941)

Profit/(loss) before income tax expense (6,003,873) 893,723

Income tax expense 9 (228,936) (106,711)

Profit/(loss) after income tax expense for the year 
attributable to the owners of Wingara AG Limited (6,232,809) 787,012

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax – –

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 
attributable to the owners of Wingara AG Limited (6,232,809) 787,012

Cents Cents

Basic earnings/(loss) per share 34 (5.11) 0.75

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share 34 (5.11) 0.72

The above statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.F
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CONSOLIDATED

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020

Note $ $

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 1,920,453 3,449,108

Trade and other receivables 10 3,458,294 2,547,883

Inventories 11 2,069,511 4,100,485

Other current assets 639,959 262,377

Total current assets 8,088,217 10,359,853

Non‑current assets

Property, plant and equipment 12 20,748,188 18,322,470

Right‑of‑use assets 13 23,241,791 24,128,944

Intangibles 14 1,816,075 1,816,075

Deferred tax 15 – 402,617

Security deposits 137,686 287,766

Total non‑current assets 45,943,740 44,957,872

Total assets 54,031,957 55,317,725

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 16 6,618,405 6,155,852

Borrowings 17 5,606,000 966,000

Lease liabilities 18 1,538,065 1,423,065

Income tax payable – 193,382

Employee benefits 677,460 774,239

Total current liabilities 14,439,930 9,512,538

Non‑current liabilities

Borrowings 19 2,266,000 6,402,000

Lease liabilities 20 22,369,455 22,875,272

Employee benefits 99,745 87,009

Total non‑current liabilities 24,735,200 29,364,281

Total liabilities 39,175,130 38,876,819

Net assets 14,856,827 16,440,906

Equity

Issued capital 21 25,029,198 20,266,704

Reserves 212,377 434,141

Accumulated losses (10,384,748) (4,259,939)

Total equity 14,856,827 16,440,906

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 March 2021
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 March 2021

CONTRIBUTED 
EQUITY

SHARE BASED 
PAYMENT 

RESERVES
ACCUMULATED 

LOSSES
TOTAL  

EQUITY

Consolidated $ $ $ $

Balance at 1 April 2019 19,976,954 165,500 (5,003,170) 15,139,284

Adjustment on adoption of AASB 16 (net of tax) – – (43,781) (43,781)

Balance at 1 April 2019 – restated 19,976,954 165,500 (5,046,951) 15,095,503

Profit after income tax expense for the year – – 787,012 787,012

Other comprehensive income for the year,  
net of tax – – – –

Total comprehensive income for the year – – 787,012 787,012

Transactions with owners in their  
capacity as owners:

Contributions of equity, net of transaction  
costs (note 21) 289,750 – – 289,750

Vesting of share based payments – 268,641 – 268,641

Balance at 31 March 2020 20,266,704 434,141 (4,259,939) 16,440,906

CONTRIBUTED 
EQUITY

SHARE BASED 
PAYMENT 

RESERVES
ACCUMULATED 

LOSSES
TOTAL  

EQUITY

Consolidated $ $ $ $

Balance at 1 April 2020 20,266,704 434,141 (4,259,939) 16,440,906

Loss after income tax expense for the year – – (6,232,809) (6,232,809)

Other comprehensive income for the year,  
net of tax – – – –

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – (6,232,809) (6,232,809)

Transactions with owners in their  
capacity as owners:

Contributions of equity, net of transaction  
costs (note 21) 4,762,494 – – 4,762,494

Share‑based payments (note 35) – 9,000 – 9,000

Forfeiture/expiry of options – (230,764) 108,000 (122,764)

Balance at 31 March 2021 25,029,198 212,377 (10,384,748) 14,856,827

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020

Note $ $

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers 37,332,348 34,167,004

Payments to suppliers and employees (36,530,105) (30,633,924)

802,243 3,533,080

Interest received 198 4,911

Proceeds from grant income 505,200 –

Interest and other finance costs paid (970,985) (2,020,941)

Income taxes paid (19,701) –

Net cash from operating activities 33 316,955 1,517,050

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for plant, equipment, and capital works in 
progress (3,932,087) (2,043,966)

Investment in security deposit (117,920) –

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 32,634 21,033,320

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities (4,017,373) 18,989,354

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares 21 5,037,628 –

Proceeds from borrowings 2,000,000 5,810,000

Share issue transaction costs (315,134) –

Repayment of borrowings (1,496,000) (21,560,756)

Repayment of lease liabilities (3,054,731) (1,397,959)

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities 2,171,763 (17,148,715)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (1,528,655) 3,357,689

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
financial year 3,449,108 91,419

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 1,920,453 3,449,108

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 March 2021

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



31www.wingaraag.com.au

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 March 2021

Note 1. General information

The financial statements cover Wingara AG Limited as a consolidated entity consisting of Wingara AG Limited and  
the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year. The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, 
which is Wingara AG Limited’s functional and presentation currency.

Wingara AG Limited is a listed public company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its registered 
office and principal place of business is:

5‑7 Leslie Road 
Laverton North VIC 3206 
Australia

A description of the nature of the consolidated entity’s operations and its principal activities are included in the directors’ 
report, which is not part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue, in accordance with a resolution of directors, on 28 May 2021.  
The directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements.

Note 2. Significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out either in the respective 
notes or below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted

The consolidated entity has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by  
the Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) that are mandatory for the current reporting period.

Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted.

Going concern

During the year, the Consolidated Entity generated a loss after tax of $6,232,809 (31 March 2020: after tax profit  
of $787,012), is reporting a net working capital deficiency of $6,351,713 (31 March 2020: positive net working capital  
of $847,315), and has received net cash inflows from operations of $316,955 (31 March 2020 inflows of $1,517,050).  
As at 31 March 2021, the Company had $1,920,453 in cash (31 March 2020: $3,449,108) and consolidated net assets  
of $14,856,827 (31 March 2020: $16,440,906).

Further to the above the Board of Directors of the Company notes the following events that have impacted upon the 
reported results of the Company for the period:

• Significant shipping delays which have increased working capital requirements and slowed the receipts;

• Rollover of $5m Inventory bank bill facility to 22nd December 2022; and

• The future losses of the Company have been significantly limited through the restructuring in the financial year ended 
31 March 2021.

To achieve the Company’s objectives, ensure its continuing viability and its ability to continue as a going concern and to 
meet its debts and commitments as they fall due, the Board of Directors of the Company is pursuing the following strategies:

• The Company continues to enjoy strong cash receipts in both JC Tanloden and Austco Polar Cold Storage;

• The Company continues to closely monitor expenditure and will continue to identify cost reductions through improving 
and simplifying operating processes;

• The Board believes it has the ability to raise additional capital (through the placement capacity), and will engage  
with interested parties and shareholders on capital raising efforts at the appropriate time; and

• The Company continues to engage with its Bank who understand agriculture seasonality trends and continue  
to be supportive.

The financial report does not include any adjustments relating to the amounts or classification of recorded assets  
or liabilities that might be necessary if the consolidated entity does not continue as a going concern.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Continued

Basis of preparation

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards  
and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) and the Corporations Act 2001, as 
appropriate for for‑profit oriented entities. These financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB’).

This financial report may also include certain non‑IFRS measures including earnings before finance costs, tax, depreciation, 
and transaction expenses. These measures are used internally by management to assess the performance of the consolidated 
entity and segments, to make decisions on the allocation of resources and assess operational management.

Historical cost convention

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

Critical accounting estimates

The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the consolidated entity’s accounting policies. The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
financial statements, are disclosed in note 3.

Parent entity information

In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, these financial statements present the results of the consolidated entity 
only. Supplementary information about the parent entity is disclosed in note 30.

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Wingara AG Limited 
(‘Company’ or ‘parent entity’) as at 31 March 2021 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. Wingara AG 
Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to in these financial statements as the ‘consolidated entity’.

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the consolidated entity has control. The consolidated entity controls an 
entity when the consolidated entity is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity 
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the consolidated entity. They are de‑consolidated from  
the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the consolidated entity are 
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset 
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the 
policies adopted by the consolidated entity.

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. A change in ownership interest, 
without the loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction, where the difference between the consideration 
transferred and the book value of the share of the non‑controlling interest acquired is recognised directly in equity 
attributable to the parent.

Where the consolidated entity loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets including goodwill, liabilities  
and non‑controlling interest in the subsidiary together with any cumulative translation differences recognised in equity. 
The consolidated entity recognises the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any investment 
retained together with any gain or loss in profit or loss.

Foreign currency translation

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is Wingara AG Limited’s functional and  
presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions are translated into Australian dollars using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates  
of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from  
the translation at financial year‑end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign  
currencies are recognised in profit or loss.
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Revenue recognition

The consolidated entity recognises revenue as follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the consolidated entity is expected to be 
entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. For each contract with a customer, the consolidated 
entity: identifies the contract with a customer; identifies the performance obligations in the contract; determines the 
transaction price which takes into account estimates of variable consideration and the time value of money; allocates  
the transaction price to the separate performance obligations on the basis of the relative stand‑alone selling price of each 
distinct good or service to be delivered; and recognises revenue when or as each performance obligation is satisfied in  
a manner that depicts the transfer to the customer of the goods or services promised.

Variable consideration within the transaction price, if any, reflects concessions provided to the customer such as 
discounts, rebates and refunds, any potential bonuses receivable from the customer and any other contingent events. 
Such estimates are determined using either the ‘expected value’ or ‘most likely amount’ method. The measurement of 
variable consideration is subject to a constraining principle whereby revenue will only be recognised to the extent that it is 
highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur. The measurement 
constraint continues until the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. Amounts 
received that are subject to the constraining principle are recognised as a refund liability.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point in time when the customer obtains control of the goods,  
which is generally at the time of delivery.

Rendering of services

Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised over time as the services are rendered based on either a fixed 
price or an hourly rate.

Interest

Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using the effective interest 
rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial 
asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Other revenue

Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, 
deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short‑term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three 
months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value, and bank overdrafts.

Income tax

The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on that period’s taxable income based on the 
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by the changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable 
to temporary differences, unused tax losses and the adjustment recognised for prior periods, where applicable.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to be applied when 
the assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates that are enacted or substantively enacted, 
except for:

• When the deferred income tax asset or liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting 
nor taxable profits; or
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Continued

• When the taxable temporary difference is associated with interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures, and 
the timing of the reversal can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that 
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

The carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date. Deferred tax 
assets recognised are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that future taxable profits will be available for the 
carrying amount to be recovered. Previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that there are future taxable profits available to recover the asset.

Based on a review during the year it was determined that the deferred tax asset should no longer be recognised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities; and they relate to the same taxable 
authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend to settle simultaneously.

Current and non‑current classification

Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non‑current classification.

An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the 
consolidated entity’s normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to be realised 
within 12 months after the reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged 
or used to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other assets are classified as non‑current.

A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in the consolidated entity’s normal operating 
cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or 
there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.  
All other liabilities are classified as non‑current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are always classified as non‑current.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the consolidated entity has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably 
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the 
present obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used to determine the present value is a pre‑tax 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase 
in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Employee benefits

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non‑monetary benefits that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months 
after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service are recognised in respect of employees’ 
services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities 
are settled. The liabilities are presented as current employee benefit obligations in the consolidated statement of  
financial position.

Impairment of non‑financial assets

Goodwill and other intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested 
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. 
Other non‑financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount.

Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value‑in‑use. The value‑in‑use is the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre‑tax discount rate specific to the asset  
or cash‑generating unit to which the asset belongs. Assets that do not have independent cash flows are grouped together 
to form a cash‑generating unit.
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Finance costs

Finance costs attributable to qualifying assets are capitalised as part of the asset. All other finance costs are expensed  
in the period in which they are incurred.

Goods and Services Tax (‘GST’) and other similar taxes

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset or as part 
of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the statement  
of financial position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing 
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at fair value. Fair value has been calculated with reference to the market price of hay.

New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet 
mandatory, have not been early adopted by the consolidated entity for the annual reporting period ended 31 March 2021. 
The consolidated entity has not yet assessed the impact of these new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations.

Note 3. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates 
in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates 
and assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations of future events, management 
believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal 
the related actual results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (refer to the respective notes) within the next financial year 
are discussed below.

Share‑based payment transactions

The consolidated entity measures the cost of equity‑settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair  
value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using either the 
Binomial or Black‑Scholes model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted. 
The accounting estimates and assumptions relating to equity‑settled share‑based payments would have no impact  
on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period but may impact profit or loss  
and equity.

Allowance for expected credit losses

The allowance for expected credit losses assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement. It is based on the 
lifetime expected credit loss, grouped based on days overdue, and makes assumptions to allocate an overall expected 
credit loss rate for each group. These assumptions include recent sales experience and historical collection rates.

Estimation of useful lives of assets

The consolidated entity determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for its 
property, plant and equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change significantly as a result of 
technical innovations or some other event. The depreciation and amortisation charge will increase where the useful lives 
are less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete or non‑strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold 
will be written off or written down.
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Goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets

The consolidated entity tests annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate impairment, 
whether goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets have suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting 
policy stated in note 2. The recoverable amounts of cash‑generating units have been determined based on value‑in‑use 
calculations. These calculations require the use of assumptions, including estimated discount rates based on the current 
cost of capital and growth rates of the estimated future cash flows.

Impairment of non‑financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets

The consolidated entity assesses impairment of non‑financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life 
intangible assets at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the consolidated entity and to the particular 
asset that may lead to impairment. If an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. 
This involves fair value less costs of disposal or value‑in‑use calculations, which incorporate a number of key estimates 
and assumptions.

Recovery of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences only if the consolidated entity considers  
it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Based on a review during the year it was determined that the deferred tax asset should no longer be recognised.

Employee benefits provision

As discussed in note 2, the liability for employee benefits expected to be settled more than 12 months from the reporting 
date are recognised and measured at the present value of the estimated future cash flows to be made in respect of all 
employees at the reporting date. In determining the present value of the liability, estimates of attrition rates and pay 
increases through promotion and inflation have been taken into account.

Note 4. Operating segments

Identification of reportable operating segments

The consolidated entity is organised into two operating segments:

• Acting as product processor and marketer of agricultural products in Australia (Fodder business); and

• Acting as service provider for manufacturers, providing temperature controlled facilities, blast freezing, storage and 
distribution (Service business).

The two segments are fully reflected in the body of the consolidated year financial statements.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2021, revenue from exporting to Asia and domestic sales contributed to 99% and 
1% respectively of the total revenue in the Fodder business (31 March 2020: 74% and 26% respectively). Revenue from 
the Service business was made up of 100% domestic sales (31 March 2020: 100%). Additionally, revenue generated  
from Fodder business segment was 73% (31 March 2020: 62%) and from cold storage segment amounted to 27% 
(31 March 2020: 38%) of total revenue.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2021, sales to one major customer in Fodder business and one major  
customer in the Service business contributed to 12% and 16% respectively of the consolidated entity’s total revenue 
(31 March 2020: 11% and 14% respectively). No other single customers contributed 10% or more to the consolidated 
entity’s revenue for the year.

Corporate division includes the financial results of Wingara AG Limited, being the parent entity of the consolidated entity. 
All segments and the corporate division operate and reside in Australia, being the only geographical segment and all of 
the consolidated entity’s assets are held in Australia.

The consolidated entity has included certain non‑IFRS measures including earnings before depreciation, finance  
costs, transaction costs and tax. These measures are used internally by management to assess the performance of the 
consolidated entity and segments, to make decisions on the allocation of resources and assess operational management.

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



37www.wingaraag.com.au

Operating segment information

FODDER BUSINESS SERVICE BUSINESS CORPORATE TOTAL

Consolidated – 31 March 2021 $ $ $ $

Revenue

Segment revenue 27,640,903 10,368,509 – 38,009,412

Total revenue 27,640,903 10,368,509 – 38,009,412

Segment EBITDA 2,155,399 1,344,849 (2,351,396) 1,148,852

Depreciation, impairment of 
receivables, and project and 
transaction costs (2,148,035) (2,302,492) (125,851) (4,576,378)

Finance costs (1,054,198) (1,507,865) (14,284) (2,576,347)

Loss before income tax expense (1,046,834) (2,465,508) (2,491,531) (6,003,873)

Income tax expense (228,936)

Loss after income tax expense (6,232,809)

Assets

Segment assets 28,864,320 24,888,802 278,835 54,031,957

Total assets 54,031,957

Liabilities

Segment liabilities 16,207,928 21,977,774 989,428 39,175,130

Total liabilities 39,175,130

FODDER BUSINESS SERVICE BUSINESS CORPORATE TOTAL

Consolidated – 31 March 2020 $ $ $ $

Revenue

Segment revenue 21,709,975 13,347,620 – 35,057,595

Total revenue 21,709,975 13,347,620 – 35,057,595

Segment EBITDA 3,118,701 1,901,318 (1,733,261) 3,286,758

Depreciation, finance,  
and transaction costs (2,088,128) (2,877,665) (1,666,228) (6,632,021)

Gain on disposal of property,  
plant and equipment (8,727) 4,247,713 – 4,238,986

Profit/(loss) before income  
tax expense 1,021,846 3,271,366 (3,399,489) 893,723

Income tax expense (106,711)

Profit after income tax expense 787,012

Assets

Segment assets 27,844,471 26,112,925 1,360,329 55,317,725

Total assets 55,317,725

Liabilities

Segment liabilities 14,778,103 23,213,157 885,559 38,876,819

Total liabilities 38,876,819
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Accounting policy for operating segments

Operating segments are presented using the ‘management approach’, where the information presented is on the same 
basis as the internal reports provided to the Chief Operating Decision Makers (‘CODM’). The CODM is responsible for the 
allocation of resources to operating segments and assessing their performance.

Disaggregation of revenue

The disaggregation of revenue is as follows:

FODDER BUSINESS SERVICE BUSINESS TOTAL

Consolidated – 31 March 2021 $ $ $

Timing of revenue recognition

Goods transferred at a point in time 27,640,903 – 27,640,903

Services transferred over time – 10,368,509 10,368,509

27,640,903 10,368,509 38,009,412

FODDER BUSINESS SERVICE BUSINESS TOTAL

Consolidated – 31 March 2020 $ $ $

Timing of revenue recognition

Goods transferred at a point in time 21,709,975 – 21,709,975

Services transferred over time – 13,347,620 13,347,620

21,709,975 13,347,620 35,057,595

Note 5. Cost of sales

CONSOLIDATED

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020

$ $

Fodder purchases 16,241,713 12,778,514

Labour costs 4,137,784 5,314,117

Other direct costs 1,255,313 693,666

21,634,810 18,786,297

Note 6. Other income

CONSOLIDATED

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020

$ $

Government grants 505,200 –

Other income 174,468 184,730

Interest revenue 198 –

Other income 679,866 184,730
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Accounting Policy for Government grants

Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attached 
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic 
basis over the periods that the related costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed. When the grant relates 
to an asset, it is recognised as income in equal amounts over the expected useful life of the related asset.

Note 7. Corporate, administration and operating expenses

CONSOLIDATED

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020

$ $

Employee related expenses 5,804,520 3,820,268

Utilities 1,151,545 3,621,513

External consultancy and audit expenses 473,689 331,437

Plant expenses 2,330,013 2,175,770

Administration expenses 1,348,324 612,887

11,108,091 10,561,875

Note 8. Profit and loss information

Net gain on disposal or property, plant and equipment

During the year, the consolidated entity recognised a net $12,613 loss from disposal of a number of motor vehicles.

In July 2019, the consolidated entity signed the sale of the Austco Polar Cold Storage property with lease back terms  
of 15 years and two further 10‑year options. The transaction allowed Wingara to unlock a capital gain and decrease  
its gearing ratio to pursue its growth strategy. A net gain on disposal of $4,247,713 was recognised.

Project and transaction expenses

In the prior period, project and transaction costs were associated with fees incurred in relation to the sale of Austco 
property and development of Wingara Group in line with the growth strategy of building a sustainable platform for 
processing and marketing agricultural products.

CONSOLIDATED

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020

$ $

Transaction fees – 610,467

Due diligence & project management 250,460 974,866

Share based payments 49,000 558,391

Options forfeited * (122,764) –

Capital raise & share placement costs 14,609 –

Impairment of capitalised project costs ** 495,576 –

686,881 2,143,724

* Options previously issued to Mr Gavin Xing, Mr Mark Hardgrave, Ms Kellie Barker, and Mr Oliver Carton were forfeited on their 
resignation from the Company.

** An impairment of Capitalised project costs was realised due to a review of projects during the financial year. Accordingly a portion  
of labour capitalised was impaired.
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Note 9 Income tax expense/(benefit)

CONSOLIDATED

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020

$ $

Income tax expense/(benefit)

Current tax (1,929,674) 188,904

Adjustment recognised for prior periods (440,587) 5,064

Deferred tax expense (income) 2,487,870 (87,257)

Change in tax rate 111,327 –

Aggregate income tax expense 228,936 106,711

CONSOLIDATED

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020

$ $

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense/(benefit)  
and tax at the statutory rate

Profit/(loss) before income tax expense (6,003,873) 893,723

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 26% (2020: 27.5%) (1,561,007) 245,774

Tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable)  
in calculating taxable income:

 Non‑deductible permanent differences – 88,576

 Temporary differences – (222,988)

 Tax losses deducted – 113,374

 Gain on bargain purchase – (123,089)

 Bank revaluations 75,797 –

 ATO cash flow boost (52,000) –

 Derecognition of DTA on legal fees as part of prior year sale 61,164 –

 Change in tax rate 111,327 –

 Other items (15,590) –

 Impairment of prior year DTA 402,617 –

 Current year tax losses not recognised 1,323,197 –

345,505 101,647

Adjustment recognised for prior periods (116,569) 5,064

Income tax expense/(benefit) 228,936 106,711

The consolidated entity has unconfirmed, unrecouped tax losses in Australia which have not been brought to account. 
The ability to be able to recognise a deferred tax asset in respect of these tax losses will be dependent upon the probability 
that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised and the conditions for 
deductibility imposed by Australian tax authorities will be complied with.
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Note 10. Current assets – trade and other receivables

CONSOLIDATED

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020

$ $

Trade receivables 3,458,294 2,547,883

Allowance for expected credit losses

The ageing of the receivables and allowance for expected credit losses provided for above are as follows:

CONSOLIDATED

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020

$ $

0 to 3 months overdue 3,421,050 2,447,737

3 to 6 months overdue – 29,742

Over 6 months overdue 37,244 70,404

3,458,294 2,547,883

Accounting policy for trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less any allowance for expected credit losses. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 
14 to 60 days.

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods and services provided in the ordinary course of business.  
If collection of the amounts is expected in one year or less they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented 
as non‑current assets.

The consolidated entity has applied the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, which uses a lifetime 
expected loss allowance. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on days overdue.

With the exception of below, bad and doubtful debts are rare for the consolidated entity. Any provision for expected  
credit losses would have an immaterial impact on the financial statements.

Impairment of receivables

The consolidated entity recorded an impairment of receivables of $977,971 related primarily to JC Tanloden. The impairment 
of these receivables related to the deterioration of the relationship with an International customer and upon pursuit of the 
outstanding receivables, they were deemed to be unrecoverable. The impairment of these debts has not impacted 
production nor sales volumes.

Note 11. Current assets – inventories

CONSOLIDATED

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020

$ $

Stock on hand – Fodder business 2,069,511 4,100,485
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Note 12. Non‑current assets – property, plant and equipment

CONSOLIDATED

30 SEPTEMBER 2020 31 MARCH 2020

$ $

Property, plant and equipment 18,143,022 17,157,891

Capital work‑in‑progress 2,605,166 1,164,579

20,748,188 18,322,470

CONSOLIDATED

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020

$ $

Freehold land 521,929 521,929

Freehold buildings 11,134,973 11,134,973

Less: Accumulated depreciation (575,975) (288,840)

10,558,998 10,846,133

Plant and equipment 7,372,142 5,648,364

Less: Accumulated depreciation (1,226,845) (683,065)

6,145,297 4,965,299

Fixtures and fittings 456,063 435,418

Less: Accumulated depreciation (130,905) (87,245)

325,158 348,173

Machinery and vehicles 321,664 338,681

Less: Accumulated depreciation (191,669) (170,795)

129,995 167,886

Spare parts and software/IT 908,155 673,816

Less: Accumulated depreciation (446,510) (365,345)

461,645 308,471

Capital work‑in‑progress 2,605,166 1,164,579

20,748,188 18,322,470

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



43www.wingaraag.com.au

Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current financial year are set out below:

FREEHOLD 
LAND

FREEHOLD 
BUILDINGS

PLANT  
AND 

EQUIPMENT

FIXTURES 
AND 

FITTINGS

MACHINERY 
AND 

VEHICLES

SPARE 
PARTS AND 

SOFTWARE/
IT

CAPITAL 
WORK‑IN‑

PROGRESS TOTAL

Consolidated $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Balance at 1 April 2020 521,929 10,846,133 4,965,299 348,173 167,886 308,471 1,164,579 18,322,470

Additions – – 1,711,617 16,369 15,000 234,341 1,936,163 3,913,490

Disposals – – (2,135) – (29,102) – – (31,237)

Impairment of assets – – – – – – (495,576) (495,576)

Transfers in/(out) – – – – 18,745 – – 18,745

Depreciation expense – (287,135) (529,484) (39,384) (42,534) (81,167) – (979,704)

Balance at 31 March 2021 521,929 10,558,998 6,145,297 325,158 129,995 461,645 2,605,166 20,748,188

Accounting policy for property, plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition and commissioning of the items. This can include purchase  
of machinery, labour costs, inventory used for testing and any other applicable expenses determined by management.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the consolidated entity and the 
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for as a separate asset  
is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the reporting  
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight‑line basis to write off the net cost of each item of property, plant and equipment 
(excluding land) over their expected useful lives as follows:

Buildings 40 years

Plant and equipment 2 – 20 years

Furniture, fittings and equipment 2 – 20 years

Motor vehicles 5 – 7 years

Others 3 – 20 years

Land is not depreciated because land is assumed to have an unlimited useful life.

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit  
to the consolidated entity. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal proceeds are taken to profit  
or loss.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in profit 
or loss. When revalued assets are sold, it is the consolidated entity’s policy to transfer any amounts included in other 
reserves in respect of those assets to retained earnings.

Where property, plant and equipment is still in construction and considered capital work‑in‑progress, the asset will be 
carried on the balance sheet and will begin depreciation once its useful life begins.
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Note 13. Non‑current assets – right‑of‑use assets

CONSOLIDATED

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020

$ $

Land and buildings – right‑of‑use 21,745,623 21,551,457

Less: Accumulated depreciation (2,474,633) (1,659,170)

19,270,990 19,892,287

Plant and equipment – right‑of‑use 4,665,817 4,665,818

Less: Accumulated depreciation (894,137) (570,499)

3,771,680 4,095,319

Motor vehicles – right‑of‑use 289,635 233,118

Less: Accumulated depreciation (90,514) (91,780)

199,121 141,338

23,241,791 24,128,944

Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current financial year are set out below:

LAND AND 
BUILDINGS

PLANT AND 
EQUIPMENT

MOTOR  
VEHICLES TOTAL

Consolidated $ $ $ $

Balance at 1 April 2020 19,892,287 4,095,318 141,339 24,128,944

Additions 935,005 – 112,317 1,047,322

Transfers in/(out) – – (18,744) (18,744)

Depreciation expense (1,556,302) (323,638) (35,791) (1,915,731)

Balance at 31 March 2021 19,270,990 3,771,680 199,121 23,241,791

Accounting policy for right‑of‑use assets

A right‑of‑use asset is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The right‑of‑use asset is measured at cost, 
which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for, as applicable, any lease payments made at or before 
the commencement date net of any lease incentives received, any initial direct costs incurred, and, except where included 
in the cost of inventories, an estimate of costs expected to be incurred for dismantling and removing the underlying asset, 
and restoring the site or asset.

Right‑of‑use assets are depreciated on a straight‑line basis over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful 
life of the asset, whichever is the shorter. Where the consolidated entity expects to obtain ownership of the leased asset 
at the end of the lease term, the depreciation is over its estimated useful life. Right‑of use assets are subject to 
impairment or adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

The consolidated entity has elected not to recognise a right‑of‑use asset and corresponding lease liability for short‑term 
leases with terms of 12 months or less and leases of low‑value assets. Lease payments on these assets are expensed to 
profit or loss as incurred.
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Note 14. Non‑current assets – intangibles

CONSOLIDATED

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020

$ $

Goodwill – at cost 31,711 31,711

Export license – at cost 1,784,364 1,784,364

1,816,075 1,816,075

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of a business. Goodwill is not amortised. Instead, goodwill is tested annually for 
impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried  
at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are taken to profit or loss and are not 
subsequently reversed.

Goodwill is allocated to cash‑generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those 
cash‑generating units or groups of cash‑generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination  
in which the goodwill arose. The units or Groups of units are identified at the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored 
for internal management purposes, being the operating segments.

Trademarks and licenses

Separately acquired trademarks and licences are shown at historical cost. Trademarks, licenses and customer contracts 
acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. They have an indefinite useful life 
as they can be renewed for only a trivial amount at expiry of licence period without incurring significant costs and time  
and are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. These assets with indefinite 
useful life are tested for impairment on an annual basis.

(i) Impairment tests for goodwill & export license

The following key assumptions were used in the discounted cash flow model: (a) 12.77% post‑tax discount rate  
(2020: 15.11%); (b) 5.00% per annum projected revenue growth rate (2020: 5.00%); (c) 46% gross margin (2020: 49%);  
(d) 2.50% per annum terminal value growth rate (2020: 2.50%).

• The post‑tax discount rate represents the current market assessment of the risks specific to the CGU, taking into 
consideration the time value of money and individual risks of the underlying asset that have not be incorporated in the 
cash flows model. The discount rate calculation is based on the specific circumstances of the CGU, and is derived from 
its weighted average cost of capital (‘WACC’). The WACC includes both cost of debt and equity. The cost of debt is 
based on the interest‑bearing borrowings the CGU is obliged to service. The cost of equity is based on the expected 
return on investment by the Company’s shareholders. In calculation of the cost of equity, management has accounted 
for the segment‑specific risk by applying the beta factor, which is publicly available market data.

• Revenue growth rate of 5.00% in subsequent years is derived based on a combination of historical performance 
references, market outlooks and current expansion and development plan of the business.

• The estimation of the annual operating costs and overheads increase is consistent with the revenue growth as majority 
of the costs are variable by nature.

• The estimated terminal value growth rate was set at 2.5% (2020: 2.5%).

There were no other key assumptions.F
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(ii) Sensitivity

As disclosed in note 3, the directors have made judgements and estimates in revenue growth and operating costs/
overheads level in respect of impairment testing of goodwill and export license. Should these judgements and estimates 
not occur the resulting goodwill and export license carrying amount may decrease.

Management believes that other reasonable changes in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount of 
goodwill and export license is based would not cause the cash‑generating unit’s carrying amount to exceed its 
recoverable amount.

No reasonably possible change in the assumptions used in the impairment calculation would generate an impairment charge.

Note 15. Non‑current assets – deferred tax

CONSOLIDATED

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020

$ $

Deferred tax asset – 402,617

Deferred tax balances were derecognised in the current year.

Note 16. Current liabilities – trade and other payables

CONSOLIDATED

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020

$ $

Trade payables 5,378,075 5,383,522

Statutory payables 310,171 337,901

Other payables 930,159 434,429

6,618,405 6,155,852

Refer to note 23 for further information on financial instruments.

Accounting policy for trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the consolidated entity prior to the end of the 
financial year and which are unpaid. Due to their short‑term nature they are measured at amortised cost and are not 
discounted. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 to 90 days of recognition.

Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months from the 
reporting date. They are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using  
the effective interest method.

Note 17. Current liabilities – borrowings

CONSOLIDATED

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020

$ $

Commercial facilities 1,086,000 966,000

Revolving loan facility 4,520,000 –

5,606,000 966,000

Refer to note 23 for further information on financial instruments.
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Total secured liabilities

• Westpac tailored commercial facility with a facility limit of $1,402,000 (31 March 2020: $2,368,000). The facility is 
subject to BBSY rate plus a margin of 1.72% (31 March 2020: 1.90%) per annum and line fee of 1.00% (31 March 2020: 
1.00%) per annum. The duration of this facility is five (5) years. Interest to be paid monthly plus monthly principal 
reductions of $80,500.

• Westpac tailored commercial facility with a facility limit of $1,950,000 (31 March 2020: nil). The facility is subject to 
BBSY rate plus a margin of 1.67% per annum and line fee of 1% per annum. The duration of this facility is four (4) years. 
Interest to be paid monthly plus monthly principal reductions of $10,000.

• Revolving loan facility with a facility limit of $5,000,000 (31 March 2020: $5,000,000). This facility is subject to  
BBSY rate plus a margin of 1.42% (31 March 2020: 1.46%) per annum and a line fee of 1.00% (31 March 2020: 1.00%) 
per annum. The term of this facility is 18 months, subject to satisfactory annual review. Monthly repayment consists of 
interest and fees only. Total amount owing has to be paid on the last day of the term. The facility matures in July 2021, 
therefore the entire outstanding balance has been classified as a current liability at 31 March 2021. Subsequent to year 
end, the facility was extended from an expiry of July 2021 to December 2022.

Accounting policy for borrowings

Loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, net of transaction costs.  
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Where there is an unconditional 
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date, the loans or borrowings are 
classified as non‑current.

Assets pledged as security

The commercial bill and loan are secured by machinery and equipment owned by the consolidated entity.

Note 18. Current liabilities – lease liabilities

CONSOLIDATED

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020

$ $

Lease liability 1,538,065 1,423,065

Refer to note 23 for further information on financial instruments.

Accounting policy for lease liabilities

Leases are recognised as a right‑of‑use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is 
available for use by the consolidated entity. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost.  
The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest  
on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The right‑of‑use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the 
asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight‑line basis.

The consolidated entity leases land and buildings for its offices, warehouses and retail outlets under agreements of 
between five to fifteen years with, in some cases, options to extend. The leases have various escalation clauses. On renewal, 
the terms of the leases are renegotiated. The consolidated entity also leases motor vehicles under agreements of five years.

Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments:

• fixed payments (including in‑substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable

• variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate

• amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees

• the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be determined,  
or the consolidated entity’s incremental borrowing rate.
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Note 19. Non‑current liabilities – borrowings

CONSOLIDATED

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020

$ $

Commercial facilities 2,266,000 1,402,000

Revolving loan facility – 5,000,000

2,266,000 6,402,000

Refer to note 23 for further information on financial instruments.

Refer to note 17 for further information on the Commercial and revolving loan facilities.

Note 20. Non‑current liabilities – lease liabilities

CONSOLIDATED

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020

$ $

Lease liability 22,369,455 22,875,272

Refer to note 23 for further information on financial instruments.

Refer to note 18 for further information on lease liabilities.

Note 21. Equity – issued capital

CONSOLIDATED

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020 31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020

Shares Shares $ $

Ordinary shares – fully paid 132,782,273 106,055,335 25,029,198 20,266,704

Movements in ordinary share capital

DETAILS DATE SHARES ISSUE PRICE $

Balance 1 April 2020 106,055,335 20,266,704

Placement 24 August 2020 26,513,833 $0.190 5,037,628

Issue of shares under  
Employee Share Scheme 19 February 2021 213,105 $0.188 40,000

Less capital raising fees (315,134)

Balance 31 March 2021 132,782,273 25,029,198

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the Company in 
proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value and  
the Company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital.

On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each 
share shall have one vote.
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Capital risk management

The consolidated entity’s objectives when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern,  
so that it can provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimum capital 
structure to reduce the cost of capital. It is also to maintain an optimal mix between debt and equity to minimise the  
cost of capital.

In order to achieve this objective, the consolidated entity seeks to maintain adequate levels of external borrowings from 
reputable financial institutions and further contribution of shareholders through capital raising to enable the consolidated 
entity to meet its working capital and strategic investment needs. In making decisions to adjust its capital structure to 
achieve these aims, management considers various alternatives from issue of new equity/debt instruments such as 
shares or options, convertible notes to extending the current debt facility.

The consolidated entity is subject to certain financing arrangements covenants and meeting these is given priority in all 
capital risk management decisions. There have been no events of default on the financing arrangements during the 
financial year.

Consistent with others in the industry, the consolidated entity monitors capital on the basis of the following gearing ratios:

• Net debt to equity ratio, being total liabilities divided by total equity at market value; and

• Borrowings to equity ratio, being total borrowings divided by total equity at market value.

Total equity at market value represents total fully paid ordinary shares at market value less other reserves and 
accumulated losses.

The capital risk management policy remains unchanged from the 2020 Annual Report.

Accounting policy for issued capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, 
from the proceeds.

Note 22. Equity – dividends

There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial year.

Note 23. Financial instruments

Financial risk management objectives

The consolidated entity’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, 
commodity price risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The key financial instruments impacted include 
cash and cash equivalents, receivables, other financial assets, trade and other trade payables and borrowings.

The Board has overall responsibility for the determination of the consolidated entity’s risk management objectives and 
policies and has the responsibility for designing and operating processes that ensure the effective implementation of the 
objectives and policies to the consolidated entity’s finance function. The Board receives quarterly reports through which 
it reviews the effectiveness of the processes put in place and the appropriateness of the objectives and policies it sets.

Market risk

Foreign currency risk

The consolidated entity undertakes certain transactions denominated in US dollars (US$) and is exposed to foreign 
currency risk through foreign exchange rate fluctuations. As at 31 March 2021, the consolidated entity held $2,688,360 
(2020: $1,838,397) worth of trade receivables and cash at bank of $222,629 (2020: $639,505) that were denominated  
in US$.

Based on this exposure, the following sensitivity analysis has been performed. The percentage change is the expected 
overall volatility of the significant currencies, which is based on management’s assessment of reasonable possible 
fluctuations taking into consideration movements over the last 12 months each year and the spot rate at each  
reporting date.
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AUD STRENGTHENED AUD WEAKENED

Consolidated – 31 March 2021 % change

Effect on  
profit before 

tax
Effect on 

equity % change

Effect on  
profit before 

tax
Effect on 

equity

Trade receivables – US dollars 10% 268,836 268,836 (10%) (268,836) (268,836)

Cash at bank – US dollars 10% 22,263 22,263 (10%) (22,263) (22,263)

AUD STRENGTHENED AUD WEAKENED

Consolidated – 31 March 2020 $ change

Effect on  
profit before 

tax
Effect on 

equity $ change

Effect on  
profit before 

tax
Effect on 

equity

Trade receivables – US dollars 10% 183,340 183,340 (10%) (183,340) (183,340)

Cash at bank – US dollars 10% 63,951 63,951 (10%) (63,951) (63,951)

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised financial assets and financial liabilities 
denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. The risk is measured using sensitivity analysis and 
cash flow forecasting.

The consolidated entity makes use of derivative financial instruments to hedge foreign exchange risk by engaging in 
forward foreign exchange contracts to mitigate the impact of foreign exchange rate fluctuations. The company follows  
a formal foreign exchange risk management framework and policy.

Commodity price risk

The consolidated entity is affected by the price volatility of hay which is a type of commodity. Its operating activities 
require the ongoing trading of hay and therefore require a continuous supply of hay. Due to the nature of the commodity 
being significantly seasonal, the consolidated entity mitigates the risk of hay price fluctuating unfavourably by working 
closely with its suppliers to forecast supply volume in upcoming season, along with customer demands.

Based on this assessment, management adjusts its level of purchase and storage to maintain a reasonable level of 
inventory in stock to meet with future demands and avoid any potential shortage due to bad weather. Prices paid to 
suppliers for inventory are fixed for the life of the contract and re‑negotiated once the contract has finished. Contracts 
signed with customers are re‑negotiated at every new hay season to reflect the fluctuation on the hay price and thus  
the price risk is passed on to customers.

Interest rate risk

The consolidated entity’s main interest rate risk arises from long‑term borrowings. Borrowings obtained at variable rates 
expose the consolidated entity to interest rate risk.

The consolidated entity manages its interest rate risk by having a balanced portfolio of fixed and variable rate loans and 
borrowings. The consolidated entity works closely with reputable financial institutions to achieve the most optimal facilities 
available on the market which can be used to fund the consolidated entity’s operations at an affordable cost of debt.

As at 31 March 2021, the consolidated entity held $7,872,000 in variable rate borrowings (2020: $7,368,000). Should the 
market interest rates fluctuate by 50 basis points, the impact to the consolidated entity’s profit or loss is approximately 
$39,360 (2020: $36,840).

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
consolidated entity. The consolidated entity manages credit risk and the losses which could arise from default by ensuring 
that financial assets such as cash at bank are held with reputable organisations. Management monitors the approval of 
new credit limit and collection process.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised financial assets is the carrying amount, net  
of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the statement of financial position and notes to the 
financial statements.
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The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by the consolidated entity’s 
senior management having continuous discussion with counter parties to thoroughly assess their financial position and 
ability to make repayment

Liquidity risk

Vigilant liquidity risk management requires the consolidated entity to maintain sufficient liquid assets (mainly cash and 
cash equivalents) and available borrowing facilities to be able to pay debts as and when they become due and payable.

Liquidity risk arises from the consolidated entity’s management of working capital and the finance charges and principal 
repayments on its debt instruments. It is the risk that the consolidated entity may encounter difficulty in meeting its 
financial obligations as they fall due. Depending on the facility type, the debt covenant requires the consolidated entity  
to make a pre‑determined amount of payment towards interest and principal each month or each quarter.

The consolidated entity monitors the liquidity ratio in a monthly basis and seeks to maintain sufficient cash balances  
(or agreed facilities) to meet all current obligations which are due within the next 12 months.

Financing arrangements

Unused borrowing facilities at the reporting date:

CONSOLIDATED

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020

$ $

Overdraft 600,000 600,000

Bank guarantee 1,940,000 1,940,661

Corporate card 80,000 80,000

Revolving loan facility 480,000 –

3,100,000 2,620,661

Remaining contractual maturities

The following tables detail the consolidated entity’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial instrument liabilities. 
The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on 
which the financial liabilities are required to be paid. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows disclosed  
as remaining contractual maturities and therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the statement  
of financial position.

1 MONTH  
OR LESS

BETWEEN  
1 TO 6  

MONTHS

BETWEEN  
6 TO 12 

MONTHS
OVER  

1 YEAR

REMAINING 
CONTRACTUAL 

MATURITIES

Consolidated – 31 March 2021 $ $ $ $ $

Non‑derivatives

Non‑interest bearing

Trade payables 4,804,750 573,325 – – 5,378,075

Other payables 752,230 488,100 – – 1,240,330

Interest‑bearing – variable

Lease liability 258,607 1,303,866 1,584,707 33,033,164 36,180,344

Borrowings 90,500 452,500 5,063,000 2,266,000 7,872,000

Total non‑derivatives 5,906,087 2,817,791 6,647,707 35,299,164 50,670,749
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1 MONTH  
OR LESS

BETWEEN  
1 TO 6  

MONTHS

BETWEEN  
6 TO 12 

MONTHS
OVER  

1 YEAR

REMAINING 
CONTRACTUAL 

MATURITIES

Consolidated – 31 March 2020 $ $ $ $ $

Non‑derivatives

Non‑interest bearing

Trade payables 3,025,137 2,358,385 – – 5,383,522

Other payables 572,411 199,919 – – 772,330

Interest‑bearing – variable

Lease liability 118,589 592,945 711,531 22,875,272 24,298,337

Borrowings 80,500 402,500 483,000 6,402,000 7,368,000

Total non‑derivatives 3,796,637 3,553,749 1,194,531 29,277,272 37,822,189

The cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur significantly earlier than contractually  
disclosed above.

Fair value of financial instruments

Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value.

Note 24. Fair value measurement

Accounting policy for fair value measurement

When an asset or liability, financial or non‑financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure purposes, the 
fair value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date; and assumes that the transaction will take place either: in the 
principal market; or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market.

Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, 
assuming they act in their economic best interests. For non‑financial assets, the fair value measurement is based on its 
highest and best use. Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are 
available to measure fair value, are used, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 
unobservable inputs.

Note 25. Key management personnel disclosures

Directors

The following persons were directors of Wingara AG Limited during the financial year:

Mr David Christie Non‑Executive Director (appointed 9 June 2020), subsequently appointed Non‑Executive 
Chairman on 14 September 2020

Mr Jeral D’Souza Non‑Executive Director

Mr Steven Chaur Non‑Executive Director (appointed 18 November 2020)

Mr Zane Banson Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer (resigned as director on 18 November 2020)

Mr Gavin Xing Executive Chairman and Managing Director, subsequently appointed Managing Director  
and CEO on 14 September 2020, (resigned from the company on 8 January 2021)

Mr Mark Hardgrave Non‑Executive Director (resigned 9 June 2020)

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



53www.wingaraag.com.au

Compensation

The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of key management personnel of the consolidated 
entity is set out below:

CONSOLIDATED

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020

$ $

Short‑term employee benefits 862,775 800,521

Post‑employment benefits 74,344 69,207

Termination benefits 146,538 –

Share‑based payments 40,000 207,255

1,123,657 1,076,983

Note 26. Remuneration of auditors

During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by William Buck, the auditor  
of the Company:

CONSOLIDATED

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020

$ $

Audit services – William BuckAudit or review of the financial statements 73,470 69,000

Other services – William BuckOther assurance services 1,000 –

Due diligence – 59,580

1,000 59,580

74,470 128,580

Note 27. Contingent liabilities

The consolidated entity had no contingent liabilities at 31 March 2021 (2020: nil).

Note 28. Commitments

The consolidated entity did not have any capital commitment as at 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).

Note 29. Related party transactions

Parent entity

Wingara AG Limited is the parent entity.

Subsidiaries

Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 31.

Key management personnel

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 25 and the remuneration report included in the 
directors’ report.
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Transactions with related parties

The following transactions occurred with related parties:

CONSOLIDATED

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020

$ $

Other transactions: Shares issued to directors * 40,000 187,500

* During the year, the Company issued 213,105 fully paid ordinary to David Christie as part of the Company’s Employee Share Scheme.

Receivable from and payable to related parties

There were no trade receivables from or trade payables to related parties at the current and previous reporting date.

Loans to/from related parties

There were no loans to or from related parties at the current and previous reporting date.

Terms and conditions

All transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates.

Note 30. Parent entity information

Set out below is the supplementary information about the parent entity.

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

PARENT

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020

$ $

Loss after income tax (2,498,690) (3,529,035)

Total comprehensive loss (2,498,690) (3,529,035)

Statement of financial position

PARENT

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020

$ $

Total current assets (1,928,775) 873,340

Total assets 10,669,324 13,505,036

Total current liabilities 1,091,008 6,030,279

Total liabilities 1,157,078 6,148,825

Equity

 Issued capital 25,035,197 20,266,704

 Options reserve 212,377 434,141

 Accumulated losses (15,735,328) (9,815,599)

Total equity 9,512,246 10,885,246
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Guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries

The Parent entity, Wingara AG Limited provides corporate guarantees to its subsidiaries as at 31 March 2021.

Contingent liabilities

The parent entity had no contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020.

Capital commitments – Property, plant and equipment

The parent entity had no capital commitments for property, plant and equipment as at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020.

Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies of the parent entity are consistent with those of the consolidated entity, as disclosed in note 2, 
except for the following:

• Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost, less any impairment, in the parent entity.

Note 31. Interests in subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in 
accordance with the accounting policy described in note 2:

Name
Principal place of business/ 
Country of incorporation

OWNERSHIP INTEREST

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020

% %

Elect Performance Group Pty Ltd Australia 100.00% 100.00%

JC Tanloden Victoria Pty Ltd Australia 100.00% 100.00%

Austco Polar Cold Storage Pty Ltd Australia 100.00% 100.00%

Note 32. Events after the reporting period

On 21 April 2021 the Company announced that it had appointed James Whiteside as CEO, effective 1 July 2021.

Subsequent to year end, the revolving loan facility with a limit of $5,000,000 was extended from an expiry of July 2021  
to December 2022 moving it from a current facility to a non‑current facility.

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 31 March 2021 that has significantly affected, or may significantly 
affect the consolidated entity’s operations, the results of those operations, or the consolidated entity’s state of affairs  
in future financial years.
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Note 33. Reconciliation of profit/(loss) after income tax to net cash from operating activities

CONSOLIDATED

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020

$ $

Profit/(loss) after income tax expense for the year (6,232,809) 787,012

Adjustments for: Depreciation and amortisation 2,911,251 2,467,356

Impairment of non‑current assets 440,576 –

Net loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 12,613 (4,238,986)

Share‑based payments 49,000 268,641

Non cash finance costs 1,605,362 –

Issuance of shares to senior management – 289,750

Gain on forfeited options (122,764) –

Forfeit of rental bond 268,000 –

Impairment of trade receivables 977,971 –

Change in operating assets and liabilities:  
Increase in trade and other receivables (1,888,382) (1,030,898)

 Decrease in inventories 2,030,973 1,262,173

 Decrease/(increase) in deferred tax assets 402,617 (109,614)

 Increase in other assets (322,582) (258,258)

 Increase in trade and other payables 462,553 1,996,624

 Decrease in provision for income tax (193,382) –

 Increase/(decrease) in employee benefits (84,042) 83,250

Net cash from operating activities 316,955 1,517,050

Note 34. Earnings per share

CONSOLIDATED

31 MARCH 2021 31 MARCH 2020

$ $

Profit/(loss) after income tax attributable to the owners of Wingara AG Limited (6,232,809) 787,012

Number Number

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used  
in calculating basic earnings per share 121,986,989 105,105,335

Adjustments for calculation of diluted earnings per share: 
Options over ordinary shares – 3,000,000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used  
in calculating diluted earnings per share 121,986,989 108,105,335

Cents Cents

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (5.11) 0.75

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (5.11) 0.72
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Accounting policy for earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of Wingara AG Limited, excluding 
any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the financial year.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account 
the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and  
the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential 
ordinary shares.

The rights to options held by option holders have not been included in the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
for the purposes of calculating diluted EPS as they do not meet the requirements for inclusion in AASB 133 ‘Earnings  
Per Share’. The rights to options are non‑dilutive as the consolidated entity is loss generating.

Note 35. Share‑based payments

An employee share option plan has been established by the consolidated entity, whereby the consolidated entity may,  
at the discretion of the Board, grant options over ordinary shares in the Company to certain key management personnel 
of the consolidated entity. The options are issued for nil consideration and are granted in accordance with performance 
guidelines established by the Board.

Set out below are summaries of options granted under the plan. There were no options granted during the current year.

31 March 2021

GRANT DATE EXPIRY DATE
EXERCISE 

PRICE

BALANCE AT 
THE START OF 

THE YEAR GRANTED EXERCISED

EXPIRED/
FORFEITED/

OTHER

BALANCE AT 
THE END OF 

THE YEAR

31/10/2017 30/10/2020 $0.395 2,000,000 – – (2,000,000) –

13/06/2018 12/06/2021 $0.480 500,000 – – – 500,000

13/08/2018 12/08/2021 $0.480 500,000 – – – 500,000

23/12/2019 23/12/2022 $0.360 2,450,000 – – (1,200,000) 1,250,000

5,450,000 – – (3,200,000) 2,250,000

Accounting policy for share‑based payments

Equity‑settled and cash‑settled share‑based compensation benefits are provided to employees.

Equity‑settled transactions are awards of shares, or options over shares, that are provided to employees in exchange for 
the rendering of services. Cash‑settled transactions are awards of cash for the exchange of services, where the amount 
of cash is determined by reference to the share price.

The cost of equity‑settled transactions are measured at fair value on grant date. Fair value is independently determined 
using either the Binomial or Black‑Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of  
the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the 
expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the option, together with non‑vesting conditions that 
do not determine whether the consolidated entity receives the services that entitle the employees to receive payment. 
No account is taken of any other vesting conditions.

The cost of equity‑settled transactions are recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity over the 
vesting period. The cumulative charge to profit or loss is calculated based on the grant date fair value of the award, the 
best estimate of the number of awards that are likely to vest and the expired portion of the vesting period. The amount 
recognised in profit or loss for the period is the cumulative amount calculated at each reporting date less amounts  
already recognised in previous periods.
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The cost of cash‑settled transactions is initially, and at each reporting date until vested, determined by applying either  
the Binomial or Black‑Scholes option pricing model, taking into consideration the terms and conditions on which the 
award was granted. The cumulative charge to profit or loss until settlement of the liability is calculated as follows:

• during the vesting period, the liability at each reporting date is the fair value of the award at that date multiplied  
by the expired portion of the vesting period.

• from the end of the vesting period until settlement of the award, the liability is the full fair value of the liability at the 
reporting date.

All changes in the liability are recognised in profit or loss. The ultimate cost of cash‑settled transactions is the cash paid  
to settle the liability.

Market conditions are taken into consideration in determining fair value. Therefore any awards subject to market 
conditions are considered to vest irrespective of whether or not that market condition has been met, provided all other 
conditions are satisfied.

If equity‑settled awards are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the modification has not been made. 
An additional expense is recognised, over the remaining vesting period, for any modification that increases the total fair 
value of the share‑based compensation benefit as at the date of modification.

If the non‑vesting condition is within the control of the consolidated entity or employee, the failure to satisfy the condition 
is treated as a cancellation. If the condition is not within the control of the consolidated entity or employee and is not 
satisfied during the vesting period, any remaining expense for the award is recognised over the remaining vesting period, 
unless the award is forfeited.

If equity‑settled awards are cancelled, it is treated as if it has vested on the date of cancellation, and any remaining 
expense is recognised immediately. If a new replacement award is substituted for the cancelled award, the cancelled  
and new award is treated as if they were a modification.

During the year, a share based payment expense of $49,000 was recognised (2020: $558,391). In addition, options 
previously issued to Mr Gavin Xing, Mr Mark Hardgrave, Ms Kellie Barker, and Mr Oliver Carton were forfeited on their 
resignation from the Company. The gain on forfeiture recognised was $122,764 (2020: nil).
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In the directors’ opinion:

• the attached financial statements and notes comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the Accounting Standards,  
the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements;

• the attached financial statements and notes comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued  
by the International Accounting Standards Board as described in note 2 to the financial statements;

• the attached financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position  
as at 31 March 2021 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date; and

• there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become  
due and payable.

The directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to section 295(5)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the directors

Mr David Christie 
Non‑Executive Chairman

28 May 2021

Directors’ Declaration
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Wingara AG Limited 
Independent auditor’s report to members  

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 
Opinion 
We have audited the financial report of Wingara AG Limited (the Company and its 
subsidiaries (the Consolidated Entity)), which comprises the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at 31 March 2021, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and the directors’ 
declaration. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Consolidated Entity, is in 
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:  
(i) giving a true and fair view of the Consolidated Entity’s financial position as at 31 

March 2021 and of its financial performance for the year ended on that date; and  
 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 
2001.  

Basis for Opinion  
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are 
independent of the Consolidated Entity in accordance with the auditor independence 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit 
of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 
We draw attention to Note 2 of the financial statements which indicates that the 
Consolidated Entity incurred a net loss before income tax of $6,232,809 and is in a net 
current deficiency of $6,351,713. These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in 
Note 2, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt 
about the Consolidated Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and therefore, the 
Consolidated Entity may be unable to realise its assets and extinguish its liabilities in the  

Independent Auditor’s Report
to the members of Wingara AG Limited
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normal course of business and at the amounts stated in the financial report. Our opinion is not modified in 
respect of this matter. 

Key Audit Matters  
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial report of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 
the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.  
 

INVENTORY 
Area of focus 
Refer also to note 2 and 11 

How our audit addressed it 

The Consolidated Entity’s inventory of $2.07 
million is significant to the financial statements.  

The valuation of inventory involves significant 
judgement by management given that the 
inventory is hay, which is subject to fluctuations in 
price owing to commodity price movements and 
the potential for variability in its quality. 

 

 

 

 

Our audit procedures included: 

— Performing physical inventory sample counts to 
ensure the existence of inventory and its condition, 
including cut-off procedures; 

— Evaluating management’s judgement and 
assumptions in determining the valuation of the 
hay at balance date; and 

— Reviewing subsequent product sales to ensure 
inventory was valued at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value and the aging and condition of the 
hay. 

We have also assessed the adequacy of disclosures in 
the notes to the financial report. 

ACQUISITION OF PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
Area of focus 
Refer also to notes 2 and 12 

How our audit addressed it 

During the financial year the Consolidated Entity 
continued to acquire significant amounts of plant 
and equipment. 
 
The capitalisation of these assets requires 
significant judgement as costs are only 
recognised as an asset if it is probable that future 
economic benefits will flow to the entity and that 
the costs can be reliably measured.  There are 
multiple elements of cost included in the total 
value of these additions, which include labour and 
overhead required to bring the assets into service. 
 
The Consolidated Entity’s accounting policy for 
depreciating such plant and equipment is over the 
term of the useful life of the asset, from when it is 
held ready for use.  
 
 

Our audit procedures included: 

— Reviewing the purchase documentation and 
independent valuation reports (where applicable) 
associated with the purchase of assets; 

— Performing audit procedures around other directly 
attributable costs capitalised in conjunction with 
the purchases;  

— Assessing the classification of plant and equipment 
between categories, including capital-work-in 
progress;  

— Reviewing the reasonableness and consistency of 
the useful lives including the impairment charge 
recorded in the year; and 

— Recalculating the arithmetic accuracy of the 
depreciation charge expensed for the year. 

We have also assessed the adequacy of disclosures in 
the notes to the financial report. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report
Continued

 

Other Information  
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information in 
the Consolidated Entity’s report for the year ended 31 March 2021 but does not include the financial report 
and the auditor’s report thereon. 
  
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report  
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 
and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.  
 
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Consolidated 
Entity to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Consolidated Entity 
or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report  
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.  A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of these 
financial statements is located at the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: 
 
http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar1.pdf  
 
This description forms part of our independent auditor’s report. 

Report on the Remuneration Report 
Opinion on the Remuneration Report  
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the directors’ report for the year ended 31 March 
2021.  
 
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Wingara AG Limited, for the year ended 31 March 2021, 
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
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Responsibilities 
 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration 
Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing 
Standards. 
 
 
 
 
William Buck Audit (Vic) Pty Ltd 
ABN: 59 116 151 136 
 
 
 
 
A. A. Finnis 
Director 
 
Melbourne, 28 May 2021 
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Shareholder Information

The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 22 June 2021.

Distribution of equity securities

Analysis of numbers of equity security holders by size of holding:

RANGE TOTAL HOLDERS UNITS % UNITS

1 – 1,000 34 3,672 0.00
1,001 – 5,000 63 220,057 0.17
5,001 – 10,000 74 685,907 0.52
10,001 – 100,000 200 9,253,491 6.97
100,001 and over 109 122,619,146 92.35
Total 480 132,782,273 100.00

Unmarketable parcels

MINIMUM  
PARCEL SIZE HOLDERS UNITS

Minimum $500.00 parcel at $0.1200 per unit 4,167 84 159,186

Equity security holders

Twenty largest quoted equity security holders

The names of the twenty largest holders of quoted equity securities are listed below:

ORDINARY FULLY PAID SHARES 
(TOTAL)

RANK NAME UNITS % UNITS

1 NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 38,442,393 28.95
2 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 18,628,542 14.03

3
MELBOURNE SECURITIES CORPORATION LIMITED  
<AGFOOD OPPORTUNITIES A/C> 12,390,243 9.33

4 J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA PTY LIMITED 9,904,213 7.46
5 JANE SUPERANNUATION PTY LTD <JANE SUPER FUND A/C> 2,857,143 2.15
6 PRIME VALUE ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED <PVA AGRICULTURAL A/C> 2,501,691 1.88
7 F & L DIAMANTE PTY LTD <F&L DIAMANTE SUPER FUND A/C> 2,150,187 1.62
8 ILWELLA PTY LTD <NO 2 A/C> 2,050,000 1.54
9 AVZATH PTY LTD <DIAMANTE FAMILY A/C> 1,930,249 1.45
10 AUSNOM PTY LTD <THE J & K CHEGS SHARE A/C> 1,545,937 1.16
11 DAVID GAZAL + JACLYN GAZAL <DAVID GAZAL FAMILY A/C> 1,500,000 1.13
12 MR ERIC HUA JIAN JIANG 1,442,000 1.09
13 ABEILLE INVESTMENTS PTY LIMITED <WRIGHT FAMILY S/F A/C> 1,000,000 0.75
13 YUEN SOON JUENG + JOEN HING JENNY <CW & CA SUPER FUND A/C> 1,000,000 0.75
15 AVZATH PTY LTD <M & D DIAMANTE S/F A/C> 877,179 0.66
16 MRS MELINDA PENSINI 714,285 0.54
17 MR ALAN CHEN 696,969 0.52
18 MR DONALD GORDON MACKENZIE + MRS GWENNETH EDNA MACKENZIE 690,000 0.52
19 MR BENJAMIN JOHN THOMPSON 646,890 0.49
20 CARPENDERS PARK PTY LTD <STAFF SUPER FUND A/C> 584,059 0.44
Totals: Top 20 holders of ORDINARY FULLY PAID SHARES (Total) 101,551,980 76.48
Total Remaining Holders Balance 31,230,293 23.52

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



65www.wingaraag.com.au

Substantial holders
Substantial holders in the company are set out below:

RANK NAME UNITS % UNITS

1 NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 38,442,393 28.95
2 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 18,628,542 14.03
3 MELBOURNE SECURITIES CORPORATION LIMITED <AGFOOD OPPORTUNITIES A/C> 12,390,243 9.33
4 J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA PTY LIMITED 9,904,213 7.46
Total 79,365,391 59.77

RESTRICTED SECURITIES (Listing Rule 4.10.14)
As at 22 June 2021, there were no restricted securities or securities subject to escrow on issue.

UNQUOTED SECURITIES (Listing Rules 4.10.5 and 4.10.16)
As at 22 June 2021, the following unquoted securities are on issue:

2,250,000 Options expiring 23 December 2022 @ $0.36 – 4 Holders
Holders with more than 20%

HOLDER NAME HOLDING % IC

Roger Prezens 500,000 40
Zane Banson 500,000 40
Gavin Xing 250,000 20

500,000 Options expiring 9 August 2021 @ $0.48 – 1 Holder

Holders with more than 20%

HOLDER NAME HOLDING % IC

Zane Banson 500,000 100

Voting rights
On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each 
share shall have one vote. There are no voting rights attached to the unquoted options.

Shareholder enquiries
Shareholders with enquiries about their shareholdings should contact the share registry:

Computershare Investor Services Pty Ltd 
Level 11, 172 St Georges Terrace 
Perth Western Australia 6000
1300 55 70 10 (within Australia) & +61 8 9323 2000 (overseas) 
Website: www.computershare.com.au

Change of address, change of name, consolidation of shareholdings
Shareholders should contact the Share Registry to obtain details of the procedure required for any of these changes.

Annual report
Shareholders do not automatically receive a hard copy of the Company’s Annual Report unless they notify the Share 
Registry in writing. An electronic copy of the Annual Report can be viewed on the Company’s website.

Tax file numbers
It is important that Australian resident Shareholders, including children, have their tax file number or exemption details 
noted by the Share Registry.

CHESS (Clearing House Electronic Subregister System)
Shareholders wishing to move to uncertified holdings under the Australian Securities Exchange CHESS system should 
contact their stockbroker.

Uncertified share register
Shareholding statements are issued at the end of each month that there is a transaction that alters the balance of  
an individual/company’s holding.

ON‑MARKET BUY BACK (4.10.18)
There is currently no on‑market buyback program.
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Reconciliation of reported to underlying results:

REPORTED  
FY21

BAD DEBT  
EXPENSE

FORFEITURE  
OF DEPOSIT

TRANSACTION 
COSTS

DISPOSAL OF  
FIXED ASSETS

SHARE‑BASED 
PAYMENTS

INVENTORY 
ADJUSTMENT

RESTRUCTURE 
COSTS

IMPAIRMENT OF 
CAPITAL PROJECTS

UNDERLYING 
FY21

$ (‘000s) $ (‘000s) $ (‘000s) $ (‘000s) $ (‘000s) $ (‘000s) $ (‘000s) $ (‘000s) $ (‘000s) $ (‘000s)

Revenue 38,009 38,009

Gross profit 16,375 661 17,036

Other income 680 680

Operating and overhead costs (15,906) 268 (99) 496 (15,241)

EBITDA 1,149 268 (99) 661 496 2,475

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of fixed assets (13) 13

Depreciation and amortisation (2,899) (2,899)

Impairment of receivables (978) 978

Project and transaction expenses (687) 250 496 59

EBIT (3,428) 978 268 250 13 (99) 661 496 496 (365)

Finance costs (2,576) (2,576)

Income tax expense (229) (229)

NPAT (6,233) 978 268 250 13 (99) 661 496 496 (3,170)

Appendix
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Reconciliation of reported to underlying results:

REPORTED  
FY21

BAD DEBT  
EXPENSE

FORFEITURE  
OF DEPOSIT

TRANSACTION 
COSTS

DISPOSAL OF  
FIXED ASSETS

SHARE‑BASED 
PAYMENTS

INVENTORY 
ADJUSTMENT

RESTRUCTURE 
COSTS

IMPAIRMENT OF 
CAPITAL PROJECTS

UNDERLYING 
FY21

$ (‘000s) $ (‘000s) $ (‘000s) $ (‘000s) $ (‘000s) $ (‘000s) $ (‘000s) $ (‘000s) $ (‘000s) $ (‘000s)

Revenue 38,009 38,009

Gross profit 16,375 661 17,036

Other income 680 680

Operating and overhead costs (15,906) 268 (99) 496 (15,241)

EBITDA 1,149 268 (99) 661 496 2,475

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of fixed assets (13) 13

Depreciation and amortisation (2,899) (2,899)

Impairment of receivables (978) 978

Project and transaction expenses (687) 250 496 59

EBIT (3,428) 978 268 250 13 (99) 661 496 496 (365)

Finance costs (2,576) (2,576)

Income tax expense (229) (229)

NPAT (6,233) 978 268 250 13 (99) 661 496 496 (3,170)
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Directors

Mr David Christie (Non‑Executive Chairman)

Mr Jeral D’Souza (Non‑Executive Director)

Mr Steven Chaur (Non‑Executive Director) 

Chief Financial Officer and Interim CEO

Mr Zane Banson

Company Secretary

Ms Vanessa Chidrawi

Registered office

5‑7 Leslie Road 
Laverton North VIC 3206 
Australia

Principal place of business

5‑7 Leslie Road 
Laverton North VIC 3206 
Australia

Share and debenture register

Computershare Investor Services Pty Ltd
Level 11, 172 St Georges Terrace 
Perth WA 6000  
Australia

1300 55 70 10 (within Australia) 
+61 8 9323 2000 (overseas)

Auditor

William Buck
Level 20, 181 William Street 
Melbourne VIC 3000 
Australia

Stock exchange listing

Wingara AG Limited shares are listed on the  
Australian Securities Exchange (ASX code: WNR) 

Website

www.wingaraag.com.au 

Corporate Directory
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